Irregular Migration Journeys: Women Asylum Seekers in Athens, Greece

By Amber McMunn

A Thesis Submitted to
Saint Mary's University, Halifax, Nova Scotia
in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for
the Degree of

Master of Arts in International Development Studies

April 2019, Halifax, Nova Scotia

Copyright Amber McMunn, 2019

Approved: Dr. Evangelia Tastsoglou

Supervisor

Approved: Dr. Sandy Petrinioti

Second Reader

Approved: Dr. Lyubov Zhyznomirska

External Examiner

Date: April 8, 2019

Table of Contents

Preface	3
Abstract	4
Chapter One: Introduction	5
Research Design	5
Defining Key Terms	6
Thesis Structure	10
Chapter 2: The Refugee Journey: A Critical Literature Review of Risks and Vulnerabilities	11
Precariousness	11
Gender and the Refugee Journey	15
Gender- Based Violence	18
Securitization	23
Chapter 3: The Migrant Crisis	26
Asylum seekers in the Eastern Mediterranean Migration Route	26
Asylum Seekers: Greece as a Receiving Society	28
Camps and Reception Centres	30
Chapter 4: The Legal and Political Context of the Migrant Crisis	33
United Nations Conventions, Protocols, and Policies on Refugees	33
The UNHCR	37
EU Regulatory Policies	40
The EU-Turkey Migration Deal	48
Greek Law and Policy	52
The Role of NGOS	59
Chapter 5: Methodology	60
Objective	60
Research Site and Study Population	61
Data Collection Techniques	62
Ethics and Informed Consent	65
Chapter 6: Research Findings	66
Sexual and Gender Based Violence	67
Precarity as a Product of Migration Policies	70

Chapter 7: Conclusion	82
Summary of Thesis	82
Recommendations	
(I) Safe Passages	
(II) Participatory Development in Reception Facilities	
(III) Integration Through Proper Support	
(IV) State Sovereignty Versus Human Rights	
Conclusion	88
References	91

Preface

Everyone should have the right to a place where they can feel safe; to be able to go somewhere they know their physical and psychological wellbeing will not be threatened. I pursued a degree relating to international development, first, because I realized how lucky I was to be born in Canada and to receive all the privileges that come with it. As I continued in my studies, my interests focused on those who were living in countries where the State was unwilling or unable to provide the safety, I so strongly believe everyone deserves.

With the current refugee crisis reaching unprecedented heights, I watched as people fled in search of safety, often risking their lives to do so. While some of the most vulnerable populations were in need of assistance, nations began to close their borders and leave asylum seekers entirely without any state protection, caught between being unable to go back to their home country and having no way to move forward. I learned of restrictive policies being implemented while simultaneously seeing images of migrants walking thousands of kilometres or piling into boats to cross the Mediterranean. I could not understand how policies were being put in place that would place these people in situations of continued vulnerability. To me, it was about the fact that policies and laws were being implemented taking into account only the views, fears and prejudices of the native populations of the countries refugees were seeking safety in. While I could understand the need to assert state sovereignty, I could not grasp the disregard for humanity that appeared to be the price for it. There was no voice given to those affected by these policies and that is what has driven me to research and write something that I hope uncovers the real human consequences of restrictive immigration and asylum policies.

Irregular Migration Journeys: Women Asylum Seekers in Athens, Greece

By Amber McMunn

Abstract

My research aims to understand the lived experiences of the contemporary and ongoing migration journeys of women arriving "irregularly" in Greece. By collecting qualitative data through interviews with asylum seekers who have arrived in Greece I could start to develop an understanding of the obstacles in the process of asylum seeking and the impact of the surrounding policies, from the point of view of those who have experienced them. This research focuses on the lived experiences of arrival, asylum claiming, transiting or settling of women in Athens with a focus on the obstacles they experienced and how they responded. My thesis seeks to assess the effects of the multiple and diverse "raising" of European borders on asylum seekers and the effects this has had on women that have fled their home countries, arrived in Athens and become involved with the Melissa Network for Migrant Women.

Date: April 8, 2019

Chapter One: Introduction

"no one leaves home unless home is the mouth of a shark. you only run for the border when you see the whole city running as well" (*Home* Warsan Shire, 2015)

We are at a point in history with a higher number of displaced people than ever before (UNHCR, 2018). As people flee war, destruction, and genocide, they may extend their search for safety within the borders of other countries. However, as people flee, most states respond by closing their borders and refusing entry. Asylum seekers are risking their lives fleeing danger in hopes that safety can be found after a perilous journey, but that journey might not have the desired resolution. This thesis is inspired by the people who have taken that journey but have had their voices go unheard. As policies and laws are implemented which punish people who have done nothing wrong but fight to survive, this research aims to share their stories. Policies and laws are usually put into place considering the interests of a country's citizens only. The current refugee situation must be viewed from more than a strictly sovereign state standpoint. The humanity of the people that are suffering under these policies also needs to be considered. This is not only a matter of ethics but also a legal matter of abiding by international law and international conventions that states are signatories of. This research aims to give a voice to those that were and continue to be harmed by these policies, people that understand in their flesh and their minds the implications of these decisions.

Research Design

During the summer of 2017, I met migrant women who found themselves living in Athens, Greece and were part of the non-profit organization, the Melissa Network for Migrant Women. By volunteering with the Melissa Network, I got to know these women, and some chose to share their stories with me via the medium of semi-structured interviews. Drawing on such

embedded ethnographic and participatory research, I believe I am able to bring the perspectives and agency of the migrant women into the academic and policy discussion surrounding the plea for safety coming from international migrants. In undertaking my study, I posed the following research questions: what is the impact of securitization policies and practices on the lived experience of female asylum seekers in Athens, Greece? My goal was to examine whether and how current migration control measures implemented under a securitization framework, impact human rights of asylum seekers and refugees as outlined in the *Universal Declaration of Human* Rights and the 1951 Convention on the Status of Refugees. There is a shared understanding among scholars that, since the end of the Cold War, we have witnessed an increased securitization of migration and proliferation of migration control measures that have led to perceived and real violation of fundamental human and refugee rights of people seeking asylum in the European Union in general and Greece in particular (Betts, 2014; Betts and Collier, 2017; Bourbeau, 2014; Hammerstad, 2014; Huysmans, 2000; Ibrahim, 2005; Waever, 2011). I draw inspirations about the understanding of the policy environment on asylum seeking in the European Union from this scholarship. Furthermore, drawing on the experiences with migration journeys as shared by my research participants, I paint a picture of the challenges and obstacles faced during the migration process which are leaving asylum seekers highly vulnerable and in continued states of precarity.

Defining Key Terms

There are four key terms which must be understood in the migrant and refugee discourse. There is a difference between a migrant, an irregular migrant, an asylum seeker, and a refugee.

As defined by the United Nations Education, Scientific and Cultural Centre (UNESCO), a migrant is, "any person who lives temporarily or permanently in a country where he or she was not born and has acquired some significant social ties to this country" (UNESCO, website

glossary "Migrant/Migration"). There is a variety of classifications of migrants, depending on the motive for their migration and their legal status in the country they have chosen to live. These classifications include, "temporary labour migrants, highly skilled and business migrants, family reunification migrants and returned migrants" (UNESCO, "Migrant/Migration"). The key factor for someone to be classified as a migrant is that person must have made the choice to leave their country and enter a new one on their own and they have decided when to leave and where to go (UNESCO, "Migrant/Migration"). However, the International Organization for Migration (IOM) defines a migrant as anyone who has moved across an international border away from their habitual residence, no matter the cause for their movement or whether leaving was voluntary or not (International Organization for Migration, 2011). There is a classification difference between an irregular migrant and a migrant. Irregular migration is defined by the IOM as taking place outside of the norms of the sending, transit, and receiving countries. The IOM further explains that while there is no universally accepted definition for irregular migrant, it typically refers to cases involving the smuggling or trafficking of migrants (International Organization of Migration, 2011).

The definitions for asylum seeker and refugee are closely linked. Under the 1951 Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees, the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) has defined a refugee as someone, who "owing to well-founded fear of being persecuted for reasons of race, religion, nationality, membership of a particular social group or political opinion, is outside the country of his nationality and is unable or, owing to such fear, is unwilling to avail himself of the protection of that country; or who, not having a nationality and being outside the country of his former habitual residence as a result of such events, is unable or, owing to such fear, is unwilling to return to it" (UNHCR, 1951, p.14). In

order to receive refugee status, a person must leave their own country, arrive in another, and make a claim for asylum. Through a rigorous legal process, it then must be proven that they meet the criteria outlined in the definition above. A key part of this definition is that the individual must be facing persecution on very specific grounds.

The IOM defines an asylum seeker as, "A person who seeks safety from persecution or serious harm in a country other than his or her own and awaits a decision on the application for refugee status under relevant international and national instruments" (IOM, 2011). The UNHCR defines an asylum seeker or refugee claimant as someone who has made the claim for refugee status and is waiting for their request to be processed (UNHCR, "Asylum Seekers"). Asylum seekers do not receive the same protection as refugees until their claim is reviewed and approved (Hynie, 2018, p.266). The two definitions from the UNHCR and the IOM would be conflating the terms asylum seeker and a refugee claimant with the defining factor being where they find themselves in the legal process of refugee claim. This thesis is analyzing the irregular migration journey of asylum seekers, meaning individuals who left their home countries for fear of their safety while facing persecution, away from threatening circumstances, and searched for sanctuary within the borders of another state.

As defined above, in the international legal framework the term asylum seeker applies to someone who has made a claim for refugee status and is in the legal process of determining their status. The term asylum seeker should also refer to someone whose claim was denied or someone who never formally applied or has yet to apply. Using the term asylum seekers differently than refugee claimants would allow for a broader understanding of who is an asylum seeker. Allowing for the definition of an asylum seeker to include those that have not made a claim for refugee status goes beyond the strict definition as outlined in international conventions

and recognizes that people might be fearing for their life for reasons outside the dangers covered by the definition in the 1951 Convention and the 1967 Protocol. These international conventions were created in the context of post World War II and as the drivers of displacement have now changed, so too should the definitions (Betts, 2015, p.367). The definitions currently being used in these conventions are based on a Westphalian view of states which implies individuals belong to one state. However, the world has grown increasingly transnational and interconnected meaning that people are part of a global economy and the definitions regarding migration and asylum seeking should reflect this (Betts, 2015, p.370). The definitions in these conventions are rooted in international legal frameworks and state sovereignty-based logic which poorly represent the lived realities and experiences of those seeking asylum. Allowing for a broader definition of an asylum seeker would more accurately represent the transition taking place in which forced migration is largely viewed through the lens of human rights law as well, as opposed to only that of the Geneva Convention (Chetail, 2012, p.19). Betts argues for the inclusion of a new term, survival migrants, which would refer to, "people who are outside their country of origin as a result of their country's inability to ensure their most fundamental human rights. The group includes the institutional category of refugees, but is much broader. It encompasses those fleeing not only civil and political rights violations but also very serious socioeconomic rights deprivations" (Betts, 2015, p.369). The concept of survival migrants expands beyond asylum seekers who are fleeing in search of safety to include those whose governments can not defend their socioeconomic rights. Asylum seeker should refer to anyone that has left their country and entered another in search of safety. This individual may not have made a claim for refugee status in the country they have arrived in. There are several reasons for someone to delay their application or to not submit one in the first safe country they reach, such

as seeking family reunification with relatives in another country. Asylum seeker can also refer to people that are fleeing to survive but are not facing persecution. For example, they might be fleeing famine or environmental disaster. The definition of asylum seeker as used in international conventions is outdated and does not accurately reflect the current context in which people are searching for asylum within the borders of other countries. Throughout my thesis, when I use the term asylum seeker, I am referring to individuals that have fled their home country and entered another, fearing for their safety even when they have not made a claim for refugee status.

Thesis Structure

My thesis is organized as follows: The second chapter will provide a critical literature review of the precarity refugees face throughout the different phases of their journey. When using the phrase migration process or migration journey throughout this research, I am referring to the different phases of the women asylum seekers journey that have led them to the Melissa Network in Athens, Greece. These include leaving their home countries (exit), traveling through neighbouring countries, (transit), seeking refugee status, and settling in Athens, (arrival) and possibly onward journeys to other EU countries for reasons of family reunification. Literature relating to the role gender plays and gender-based violence that is faced throughout the migration journey will also be analyzed. The relationship between the precarity refugee women face and the gender-based violence they experience will be explored. This chapter further provides an overview of securitization, its development, and an analysis of its implementation in current migration policies. Chapter three provides an overview of the current migrant situation in Greece, while chapter four outlines the relevant legal framework in place in the European Union and Greece. This is followed by chapter five in which I explain the methodology of my empirical study. Chapter six is an analysis of the data culled from interviews conducted with the migrant

women attending the Melissa Network in Athens, Greece. Chapter seven provides a discussion of these findings and recommendations on how these findings can inform policy to address the issues facing refugees and asylum seekers.

Chapter 2: The Refugee Journey: A Critical Literature Review of Risks and Vulnerabilities

Precariousness

The refugee journey can not be viewed as a smooth, linear process. Each phase that a refugee goes through poses different difficulties and creates different vulnerabilities and the experience will be different for every person who undergoes it. From the first step of their migration process which is having to flee their home country, to the dangerous journey of passing through neighbouring countries and potentially relying on the assistance of smugglers as they try to reach a safe country, to trying to prove they deserve refugee status. Each of these phases in the asylum seeking and migration journey leaves people vulnerable and in a state of precarity as they can never be confident about what might happen next.

The concept of precarity first entered the discourse of migration studies in the 1960s when brought forward by Pierre Bourdieu who focused on the precariousness of economic migration. At the time, he was analyzing the divide in Algeria between permanent workers and casual workers. The casual workers he referred to as précarité (Waite, 2009, p.414., and Paret and Gleeson, 2016, p.278). The perception of precarity within the discourse of migration was most frequently used when focusing on employment and the labor market, linking precarity to economic insecurity (Paret and Gleeson, 2016, p.278). The concept has since grown in importance for labour and citizenship studies but also plays an important role in understanding migration (Schierup and Jørgensen, 2016, p.948). Ettlinger defines precarity as being

synonymous with uncertainty and unpredictability (2007 p.320). Barbier argues that the concept should apply to more than economic uncertainty as, "Uncertainty and contingency are at the heart of the human condition" (2002, p.1). Waite has a definition for precarity which combines the theories from both Ettlinger and Barbier to state that, "Precarity, thus, conjures life worlds that are infected with uncertainty and instability" (2009, p.416). The concepts of uncertainty and unpredictability can be understood as being present in the journey of asylum seekers as they leave their lives behind and begin a search for safety in a new country, facing various risks throughout.

Through the journey that refugees undergo, precarity is experienced in numerous ways. While employment and economic insecurity are a part of this, it is one aspect of a much larger issue. As Schierup and Jørgensen argue, "Precarity goes beyond work and working conditions to matters of health, housing, education, culture, social rights, and mobility" (2016, p.954). Neilson and Rossiter contend that precarity is an experience and it does not look one single way, it will be different for every person that undergoes these experiences (2008, p.55). Asylum seekers and refugees experience precarity differently from those living in the country they migrate to, as they face different social circumstances. They experience precarity at a legal level- laws in place that deter them during their journey and upon arrival, as well as laws that complicate their application process. They also face social precarity by trying to create a new life for themselves in a society where they will have to meet and overcome social prejudices, as well as other barriers such as not speaking the local language. Asylum seekers and refugees suffer social vulnerabilities in many aspects of the lives they are trying to create for themselves inside a new country.

Judith Butler (2009) explains that certain populations experience higher levels of precarity when they do not have the proper networks of social and economic support, leaving

them exposed to higher levels of violence, poverty, disease, and starvation, all of which can result in sickness, injury, and even death (p.3). She further argues that higher levels of precarity can be "politically induced" for specific populations when the state does not work to protect them (2009, p.3). She states that precarity is social and political arrangements that befall populations viewed as "ungrievable" or who are forced into conditions of "unlivability" (2016, p.201). She specifically mentions the precarity of,

those who undergo forced emigration and live in liminal zones, waiting for borders to open, food to arrive, and the prospect of living with documentation; (...) and who live in a daily way within a collapsed temporal horizon, suffering a sense of a damaged future in the stomach and in the bones, trying to feel but fearing more what might be felt. Under contemporary conditions of forced emigration and neoliberalism, vast populations now live with no sense of a secure future, no sense of continuing political belonging, living a sense of damaged life as part of the daily experience of neoliberalism (2016, p.201).

Butler's arguments show the ways in which refugees and migrant populations have been left to suffer in a continued state of uncertainty, without a way to move forward in establishing their lives because of policies and practices which leave them vulnerable. They are left without a future because as refugees and asylum seekers, their lives are as Butler states, "ungrievable."

The journey that refugees take to reach a new country in search of asylum puts them in situations of high vulnerability, to the point that their lives are at risk. Mbembe discusses the concept of "necropolitics" (Mbembe, 2003 and Schierup and Jørgensen, 2016, p.952). As seen through the high death toll in the Mediterranean during the current refugee crisis, the possibility of death is ever present in the journey for asylum. States not formulating policies which will affectively prevent these deaths is necropolitics; not having the proper measures in place to save and protect the lives of people trying to reach their borders is a decision to let them die instead. They are using the power of state sovereignty to determine who they will allow to live and who they will allow to die (Mbembe, 2003, p.11). They people they are allowing to die are migrants

that could be rescued with proper policies and practices in place. Schierup and Jørgensen expand on the idea of necropolitics in the current migrant crisis, "The termination of the Italian Mare Nostrum program and its replacement in early 2015 by the EU Operation Triton with much less funding led only to an increase in the number of deaths at sea. The European Union has indeed desperately endeavoured to buy absolution for its self-inflicted, so-called 'refugee crisis' by pushing back asylum seekers to Turkey which itself is ridden by internal political strife, paying little objection to the conditions of refugees struggling to survive in those Turkish refugee camps" (2016, p.953). Refugees have put their lives at risk to cross the Mediterranean and reach the shores of Greece. During this journey, they are unlikely to receive help from a state or government run body which will make sure they are able to reach the shore and not drown at sea. Sea-based enforcement of borders puts migrants at a greater risk and more likely to use smugglers (Dahlman, 2016, p.17). If they do reach land, they will be subject to the EU-Turkey Migration Deal which will allow for them to be deported back to Turkey disregarding whether the conditions they will be subject to in Turkey are acceptable.

As stated by Paret and Gleeson, "Frequently marked by various forms of exclusion, migrant experiences provide a crucial window into the origins and institutionalization of precarity" (2016, p.277). The experiences of migrants show how precarity has become part of larger institutions and is seen throughout laws and policies. This is strongly reflected when viewing the policies in place to address asylum seekers and refugees. They are kept by states in situations of high vulnerability for years without being given the proper support or knowledge of when they will be able to proceed in creating a new life for themselves. While the discourse of precarity and precariousness originally applied to economic precarity, it is clear that this condition can be seen in all facets of their lives including health, housing, education, culture,

social rights, and mobility (Schierup and Jørgensen, 2016, p.954). Some of the vulnerabilities that they must face are, "combining vulnerability to deportation and state violence, exclusion from public services and basic state protections, insecure employment and exploitation at work, insecure livelihood, and everyday discrimination or isolation" (Paret and Gleeson, 2016, p.281).

The interviews conducted as part of this research study with the women attending the activities of the Melissa Network in Athens, made it clear that the concepts of vulnerability and precarity offer great analytical strength to account for and analyze the experiences of the women interviewees. From the shared experiences about the various phases of their migration journey, -- from the reason they left home, the danger they experienced in trying to reach Greece, up to trying to create their new life in Greece,- it becomes clear that a theory of a precarious migration journey is needed to explain their individual and collective experiences. The stories and experiences shared by the research participants provide the voice and first-person perspective to reveal the consequences of state decisions that do not always take into consideration people affected by these policies. This analysis will be further elaborated in chapter six.

Gender and the Refugee Journey

Due to traditional gender roles, there are different expectations for men and women which results in different social investments. This creates a gender inequality which leaves women more vulnerable as they are disadvantaged by behavioural expectations and considered inferior to men systemically (Robbers, Lazdane, and Sethi, 2016, p.26). Without social investment in a society's women, the society will experience unequal results in the knowledge, capabilities, and aptitudes of women and men. The current European Union policies addressing asylum seekers and refugees leave individuals in continued states of precarity and vulnerability, but women experience greater levels of vulnerability because of their gender. The type of vulnerability is different for women as their gender leaves them at risk of sexual and gender-

based violence, as well as social exclusion, persecution, and extreme poverty (Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, 2010, p.1). This means that gender is going to largely affect the irregular migration journey. The current system in place is based on a model addressing male asylum seekers and leaving women without proper care and protection (Freedman, 2008, p.413.) The *1951 Convention*, which provides rights and protection to refugees, was written based on a model of male rights, typical of the view at the time, and in no way offers protection due to persecution because of sex (Freedman, 2008, p.415). Responses to the refugee crisis, by both states and NGOs, should be sensitive to gender and the way it shapes vulnerability.

The European Institute for Gender Equality defines gender-based violence against women as, "violence that is directed against a woman because she is a woman or that affects women disproportionately" (2015). According to Galtung's framework of violence, violence can be put into three categories: direct, structural, and cultural (Gerard and Pickering, 2013, p.344). Galtung defined direct violence as personal violence including both physical and psychological where there is an actor that commits the act (1969, p. 170,). Structural violence includes, "violence resulting from systemic and structural inequalities that affect people's daily lives, such as racism, sexism and poverty" (Gerard and Pickering, 2013, p.344). Finally, the third characterization is cultural violence. This is crucial to understanding the perpetuation of violence as it is a legitimizing force for direct and structural violence. Criminologists have argued that cultural violence accounts for the number of undocumented migrants that die in border zones (Gerard and Pickering, 2013, p.345). There is a culture in place that allows for both direct and indirect violence to be taken against migrants. This violence is present both directly and structurally throughout the migration journey.

There are structures in place making migration a greater challenge for women. They face social and economic constraints, which affect their migration journey from the beginning, even the ability to leave their home country (Freedman, 2008, p.415). This results in them often not migrating until absolutely necessary. Some of these challenges include such factors as "lack of economic resources, responsibility for children and children's welfare, restrictions on women travelling alone both within their own country and outside it, and fears of violence during migration" (Freedman, 2016, p.20). A 2016 report by the Commissioner for Human Rights at the Council of Europe included a review of the studies assessing the risks for women and girls on their journey to Greece and onwards in Europe completed by the UNHCR, the United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA), and the Women's Refugee Commission. These studies found "that women and girls, especially those travelling alone, face particularly high risks of certain forms of violence, including sexual violence by smugglers, criminal groups and individuals in countries along the route" (Commissioner for Human Rights, 2016).

In a 2012 study by Gerard and Pickering based on interviews with Somali refugee women who have travelled through North Africa to reach the southern EU Member State of Malta, the women described the transit of their journey in two ways;

First, they talked of the variability of transit: exposure to violence, conditions of accommodation, incarceration, how long the journey took and how safe it was, were all dependent on numerous factors: primarily, access to financial resources, but also, gender. Second, the women spoke about the danger and violence they had to negotiate at particular transitory junctures throughout the journey (2013, p.344).

This study demonstrates how gender plays a role in the experience of migration. Migrants' gender may also play a factor in determining available financial resources as it will influence the type of work they do, as well as financial compensation. The women mentioned how at particular junctures during their journey, they felt their gender put them in more danger and at higher risk of violence.

Gender- Based Violence

The term gender-based violence is used to distinguish common violence from the violence that targets an individual because of their gender (UNHCR, 2003, p.10). Sexual and gender-based violence (SGBV) is defined as "any act as well as threats of acts of physical, sexual and psychological violence that is directed against a person on the basis of her/his gender or sex, and which occurs in the family, the community, or is perpetrated or condoned by the State and/or institutions" (Keygnaert, et al. 2014, p.90). The UNHCR differentiates five types of genderbased violence: sexual, physical, psychological, harmful cultural practices, and socio-economic (p.16-18). Examples of sexual violence includes, "sexual harassment, sexual abuse, attempted or completed rape, sexual exploitation, forced prostitution and the use of sexual violence as a weapon of war or torture and can generate severe sexual, reproductive, physical and mental health consequences and socioeconomic problems in victims regardless of their gender" (Keygnaert and Guieu, 2015, p.45). Refugees, asylum seekers, and undocumented migrants are at risk of sexual and gender-based violence as they are a vulnerable population. In refugee settings, those most at risk are women and girls. Due to gender perspectives and roles during times of peace, women receive less protection and become more susceptible to violence during times of war. This violence varies from forced marriage to sexual abuse, to sexual exploitation and trafficking (Ward and Vann, 2002, p.14)

With the international refugee convention not including persecution due to sex, gender-based violence is not included as a reason to claim asylum. It is up to the national authorities and each specific case to assess if this is a valid enough reason (Freedman, 2008, p.416). This is one way that the *1951 Convention* and treatment of asylum seekers is based on a male perspective. This is in part due to the division between public-private undermining refugee law. For example, what takes place within the family home, such as forced marriage or female genital mutilation,

can be viewed as a private matter and therefore does not fall under the protection of the Convention (Freedman, 2008, p.417).

Rape may not be taken seriously as a reason for a refugee claim, even though it is well documented that sexual violence against women is used extensively in conflict situations (Freedman, 2008, p.418). The knowledge of the violence women face during wartime has become so common that during asylum claims being made in Germany women were refused because, "widespread rape by hostile militia has been dismissed as the common fate of women caught in a war zone and not recognised as persecution" (Ankenbrand, 2002, p.48). As such a high number of asylum seekers experience sexual-assault, they also experience the burden of proof when making their claim and sharing their story. As many women living in war zones have experiences that sound similar, some decision makers doubt the credibility of their stories (Freedman, 2008, p.423).

Women migrating to Europe in search of safety are instead becoming subject to multiple forms of insecurity and violence. Navigating the different phases of the migration journey, including travel, time in refugee camps and reception centres, and settling in a new culture with new societal norms puts women at risk of various forms of sexual and gender-based violence both directly and structurally. Sexual violence against refugees often occurs in combination with physical, emotional, or socio-economic violence (Robbers, Lazdane, and Sethi, 2016, p.26). Human Rights Watch has reported incidents of sexual-based violence in detention in Northern Macedonia (the Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia). At detention centres women were encouraged to take part in transactional sex, that is, the women were "promised priority treatment of their cases and faster release if they agreed to sexual relations with the male guards" (Freedman, 2016, p.20). Transactional sex is also requested of women by smugglers to complete

their journey when they do not have sufficient cash to pay for the remainder of their passage (Freedman, 2016, p.21). Amnesty International (2016), interviewed forty women had travelled to Turkey, Greece, and were then living in Norther Europe. All of the women interviewed described feeling unsafe throughout the journey. Many reported, "that in almost all of the countries they passed through they experienced physical abuse and financial exploitation, being groped or pressured to have sex by smugglers, security staff or other refugees" (Amnesty International, January 2016). As laws and policies are implemented that make migrating and seeking asylum in a new country even more difficult, the reliance on smugglers has grown as the journey has become more challenging. This has made women more vulnerable to sexual and gender-based violence at the hands of their smugglers (Freedman, 2016, p23). While women are forced into situations of higher vulnerability, they are not able to turn to police or security forces along their migration route for protection as they might also be perpetrators of this violence (Freedman, 2016, p23). In the 2016 Amnesty International report regarding the risk female migrants face, Tirana Hassan, the Amnesty International Crisis Response Director said,

"Nobody should have to take these dangerous routes in the first place. The best way to avoid abuses and exploitation by smugglers is for European governments to allow safe and legal routes from the outset. For those who have no other choice, it is completely unacceptable that their passage across Europe exposes them to further humiliation, uncertainty, and insecurity." (p.1).

Policies aimed at deterring migration do not stop people fleeing for their lives from running from danger but simply puts them in a different type of danger on their journey. It also increases their vulnerability as they turn to more extreme measures such as relying on smugglers.

Refugee women are not only subjected to sexual and gender-based violence in areas of conflict and on their journeys but this continues once they arrive in Europe (Robbers, Lazdane, and Sethi, 2016, p.26). While refugee camps and reception centres are recognized as the place for

asylum seekers to go, and where they can be forced to remain, they also leave women highly susceptible to violence (Hyndman, 2004, p.204). The ways in which reception centres and camps are failing to protect the women within them leaves the already vulnerable population of asylum seeking women exposed to further gender-based violence (Freedman, 2016, p.22). Research has shown that vulnerability to sexual-based violence increases when there are inadequate living conditions, overcrowding at reception facilities, and a lack of gender-sensitive practices in the asylum procedures and at reception facilities (Oliveira et al., 2018, p.2). When held in larger reception centres with more people, the risk of sexual violence increases (Robbers, Lazdane, and Sethi, 2016, p.28). Amnesty International (2016) documented that the women felt particularly vulnerable in camps in Greece, Hungary, and Croatia as they were sleeping near hundreds of refugee men. Women are also vulnerable to sexual assault when accessing basic necessities, such as collecting firewood which is needed for cooking or cleaning (Hyndman, 2004, p.198). Women living in camps and detention centres have entered Europe in search of sanctuary but are instead being held in conditions which leave them continually vulnerable and organizations working in these camps are not taking the proper actions to protect them.

Measures need to be taken in order to recognize the sexual and gender-based vulnerability of women throughout the migration journey and within the asylum system, and preventative actions need to be taken. Reception centres and refugee camps can provide basic upgrades to increase safety for women such as, "smaller accommodation centres with lockable rooms and separate sanitary facilities and a gender-balanced staff team, which should be trained in culture and gender sensitivity and violence prevention and response" (Robbers, Lazdane, and Sethi, 2016, p.28). These are small steps that could easily be taken and make a difference in protecting women during the asylum process.

Refugee camps and reception centres are not the only structural systems in place keeping women asylum seekers in highly vulnerable situations. Women may be forced to remain with partners in dangerous situations due to the system in place which privileges the male head of households. In a report by the UNHCR and the Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, women share how the system for ration cards forces them to be dependent on the men in their lives, "Refugee women...reported that when documentation and ration cards have been issued, they were most often given to male heads of household. This can make women dependent on men for access to basic goods and services, and the lack of their individual identification increases the potential for exploitation of women" (2001, p. 10). When making their claim for asylum, if married couples must file a joint claim or make their claim together, women may be forced to remain in situations of violence or where they are unsafe if they want to obtain legal documentation to remain in that country (Freedman, 2008, p.421). If the men are issued the documentation and ration cards, women are further vulnerable to exploitation and are less likely to be stable on their own. This reflects cultural violence which continues to disadvantage women with gendered expectations.

As this section shows, throughout all phases of their journey, asylum seekers face gender specific risks, vulnerability, uncertainty, and different types of violence. Women experience higher levels of vulnerability as they become subject to gender-based violence and sexual-based violence. While the migration journey has different stages, reaching Europe does not mean asylum seekers will find a resolution to the obstacles they face on their journey. Refugees are left in continued situations of vulnerability to SGBV and precarity as they are faced by policies that are meant to deter them from entering Europe and portray them as a threat.

Securitization

While the 1990s saw a shift from inter-state to more intra-state conflict, there was also a change of perception of the victims of these wars (World Bank, 2011, p.53). Asylum seekers fleeing conflict zones and in search of refuge began to be portrayed as a threat in the eyes of the international community (Ibrahim, 2005, p.167). The United Nations Security Council played a large role in this change as they took responsibility in addressing refugees and did so as a matter of international peace and security instead of refugees being addressed as a humanitarian crisis. Starting with Iraq in the early 1990s, the UN Security Council began to link flows of refugees with threats to international peace and security (Ahlborn, 2011, p.1009-1010).

This shift allows for the State to change the object of security threats from the national level to individuals. This creates a human- centred approach which means that individuals, not the State, are the focus of security under operations of the UN Security Council (Betts, 2014, p.64 and Ahlborn, 2011, p.1010). The result is that the idea of security is no longer about the State itself but instead about security at an individual level with asylum seekers and forced migrants being represented as a threat (Betts, 2014, p.65 and Ibrahim, 2005, p.168). The cultural differences between asylum seekers and the population of the states they flee to, are portrayed by the State as being a threat to the (national) way of life. The asylum seekers and refugees are the "other" which means they have different values and are a threat (Ibrahim, 2005, p.165). People fleeing to other states from internal and international conflicts in their own state, were being portrayed as threats to the state sovereignty and territorial integrity of the countries they were seeking access to (Hammerstad, 2014, p.266). The concept of refugees and migrants as a threat was linked to the idea that they would threaten, "the existing way of life" (Ibrahim, 2005, p.166). The practice of viewing refugees as a threat has allowed for the weakening of their protection

standards (Ahlborn, 2011, p.1011). It is through these shifts in perspective in the 1990s that the securitization approach to addressing refugees began on a larger scale.

Securitization is defined as "the process wherein an issue is presented as an existential threat, requiring emergency measures and justifying actions outside the normal bounds of political procedure" (Hammerstad, 2011, p.238). This approach was developed by the Copenhagen school in the 1990s. As determined by the Copenhagen School, the first act of securitization comes through speech; declaring something as a threat establishes the urgency in which it needs to be addressed. If a government wishes to portray migrants and refugees as threat, combining speech acts and a strategy for risk management creates the possibility to impose policies under the guise of keeping their citizens safe from the incoming asylum seekers (Hammerstad, 2014, p.267). This practice would be context specific to each country's government and the policies it chooses to implement as a response to migrants and refugees.

As argued by Huysmans (2000), the growth of the securitization framework in Europe is largely a result of the political and social dynamics that portray migrants as a threat to public order, cultural identity, and domestic and labour market stability (Huysmans, 2000, p.752). However, as people from the Member States of the European Union are free to migrate between countries, this reflects state policies that truly prioritize cultural homogeneity over market stability (Huysmans, 2000, p.753). Hammerstad further argues that with the end of the Cold War security was no longer only about weapons but grew to include economic, environmental, and identity security concerns, and refugees and migrants were portrayed as the biggest threat to all of these (Hammerstad, 2014, p.266).

As migration becomes constructed as a security problem, according to some writers, security solutions are presented as the most viable resolution (Gerard and Pickering, 2013,

p.339). Refugees are no longer portrayed as a simple political matter, but they have become part of emergency politics meaning that extreme measures can be taken in addressing this problem. These extreme measures can extend as far as removing the rights of those that are portrayed as the potential threat (Hammerstad, 2014, p.268). If a government portrays migrants as a threat, it distances the people from the violence they have experienced and the reasons they are fleeing their own country (Ibrahim. 2005, p.169).

When States signed onto the Geneva Refugee Convention in the 1950s, the composition of the world's refugee population was different than it is now. Asylum seekers were largely coming from Europe after World War II, which meant that they were coming from a developed region that most likely shared similar cultures and beliefs to the states they were migrating to. At the end of the Cold War and throughout the beginning of the 1990s, there was an increase in the number of individuals seeking refugee status coming from developing nations. Between 1985 and 1995, countries in the Western World received over five million applications for asylum (Schoenholtz, 2015, p.87). With a larger flow of asylum seekers, states began to look for ways to restrict territorial access, resulting in increased migration and border controls.

Using securitization, political actors are able to create a threat that will elicit a specific response (McDonald, 2011, p.283). Furthermore, security is a social construct; what security means can change with each individual, society, or country. What someone considers to be security is going to be subjective to the life they have, which means what constitutes a security threat is not objectively given (McDonald, 2008, p.564). Government leaders can use speech acts to create hostility towards asylum seekers that the population would normally accept or not even notice. They are then able to take use public hostility in order to justify restriction put on migrants and asylum seekers (Hansen, 2014, p.261). This means that while securitization might

start and be enacted at a political level, it opens the realm of possibility to justifiable actions for securitizing agents.

As argued by Waever, under the securitization model applied to the field of migration, states are capable of focusing their security practices on one existential threat, in this instance it is migrants, allowing for the use of extreme measures that would otherwise not be tolerated (Waever, 2011, p.469). While ostensibly still operating under the 1951 Convention on the Status of Refugees, the securitization model has resulted in Western States putting new laws and procedures in place that make migration more challenging. Some examples of these restrictions are, "pre-clearance and preinspection programs abroad, new visa requirements on nationals from countries that "produce" refugees, detaining arriving asylum seekers, fast-track asylum procedures aimed at 'manifestly unfounded' claims, filing deadlines and denial of claims where the claimant had passed through a safe third-country or where there were internal flight alternatives" (Schoenholtz, 2015, p.87). The effect of securitization on the laws and policies addressing migration in the European Union and Greece will be further discussed in chapter 4.

Chapter 3: The Migrant Crisis

Asylum seekers in the Eastern Mediterranean Migration Route

In 2014, the number of displaced people reached 59.5 million, the largest since World War II (Jones, 2016, p.19). As of June 2018, the number of people forcibly displaced had risen to 68.5 million (UNHCR, June 2018). Of this figure, 28.5 million have left their home and sought safety outside their own country's borders, becoming asylum seekers and refugees (UNHCR, June 2018). There are three routes used for sea migration to the Mediterranean: the Eastern route consists of the Greek Islands; the Central route leads towards Italy and Lampedusa, and the Western route leads to Spain (UNHCR, "Mediterranean Situation", 2019). In 2015, over one million people crossed the Mediterranean to reach Europe through the Eastern Mediterranean

route. Of this shockingly large number for 2015, almost 4000 more people lost their lives in the journey when they drowned (UNHCR, 2019). Represented in the following chart are the number of migrations using the Eastern Mediterranean route throughout the previous five years as recorded by the UNCHR:

Previous Years	Arrivals	Dead and Missing
2018	141,472	2,277
2017	185,139	3,139
2016	373,652	5,096
2015	1,032,408	3,771
2014	225,455	3,538
	,	

("Mediterranean Situation", 2019).

As of June 2019, the UNHCR reported 30,120 people crossing the Mediterranean to arrive in Europe and approximately 539 people dead or missing. Of the over 30,000 people to cross the Mediterranean, 15,670 people arrived in Greece ("Mediterranean Situation", 2019).

In relation to the Syrian refugee crisis, the importance of Greece in global migration flows became apparent in 2015 when 856,723 asylum seekers arrived on the shores of Greece looking to claim asylum in the European Union (UNHCR, 2018). In September of 2015, international attention to this crisis was awakened by the shocking image of Aylan Kurdi, the three-year-old Syrian boy, whose body was found lying face-down on a Turkish shore (Jones, 2016, p.19). This image created a sense of global connectedness regarding the migrant crisis, meaning that even though it may have been happening at a geographical distance to people from a different culture, religion, or language, citizens around the world were shocked and began to care about the response (Butler, 2012, p.138). The image of Aylan Kurdi shocked the world and

may have sparked a discussion about the crisis in the Mediterranean and the refugee response in Europe, with financial contributions to non-profits spiking immediately with the spread of the photo and the story and then again declining shortly after; nevertheless, policies harmful to asylum seekers continued to be implemented (Cole, 2017). Gaining international attention, the world began to call a global refugee crisis but what was truly being experienced by 2014/2015 was a crisis of European refugee policy. The refugee crisis had begun long before the tragic loss of Aylan Kurdi and the many other asylum seekers who lost their lives in the Mediterranean but with mass movements now taking place with Europe as the intended destination (instead of neighbouring countries), asylum seekers became a crisis of politics (Betts and Collier, 2017, p.2).

As of August 12, 2018, 17, 030 asylum seekers had arrived in Greece by sea for the year (UNHCR, August 2018a). This number reflects the decrease in migrants crossing the Mediterranean that has been occurring over the past two years with 2017 having 29,718 sea arrivals to Greek shores while 2016 had 173,550 (UNHCR, August 2018a). With such large numbers of asylum seekers arriving in Greece and the world watching the way the European Union was handling the crisis, a spotlight was put on Greece's response and treatment of this vulnerable population.

Asylum Seekers: Greece as a Receiving Society

The increase in violence and war in countries such as Afghanistan, Iraq, and Syria has led to a refugee crisis that few if any countries were prepared to handle. Nations bordering these States took in a large number of people but over time asylum seekers moved further (Lamb, 2016, p.67-68). Countries next to or near a fragile state taking in asylum seekers are known as "haven countries". These haven countries are not necessarily the country migrants would choose to migrate to. Haven countries are the closest ones, often sharing a border, to countries which

people are fleeing from (Betts & Collier, 2017, p.30). For example, in the case of the Syrian conflict, "haven countries" were Lebanon, Jordan and Turkey. However, "haven countries" with the largest number of refugees might not be equipped to handle such a large influx of people who have left everything behind and are in dire need of support for basic survival. Facing a shortage in the provision of basic necessities, people may continue on their perilous journey in search of sanctuary, risking everything on their journey.

Over the last twenty years Greece has experienced an unprecedented level of immigration, becoming one of the largest migrant recipient countries in the European Union (Swarts & Karakatsanis, 2013, p.98). The Greek island of Lesvos is situated only 4.1 miles from the Turkish coast, and it became one of the first spots that migrants from the Middle East or sub-Saharan Africa would aim for when departing from Turkey by boat (Hammerstad, 2014, p.269). Before the Arab Spring, countries that had a coastline along the Mediterranean, such as Egypt, Tunisia, and Libya were under the control of dictators, who closely policed their borders. However, during and after the Arab Spring these regimes were toppled. This meant that the Arab Spring not only provided a reason for people to flee, but also a way to do it. While the countries along the coast were trying to rebuild a new system of government, control of the coast was lost, opening it up to smugglers (Betts & Collier, 2017, p.67). With the escalation of the civil war in Syria accompanied by people fleeing for safety, smugglers seized the opportunity to cash in by taking people from Turkey to various Greek islands and touting to refugees access to the European Union (Betts & Collier, 2017, p.81).

Between June and August of 2015, 75,773 people arrived on Lesvos. The islands of Chios and Samos received 20,485 and 19,330 respectively. Considering that the population of Lesvos is approximately 86, 400 people, it is clear that for a few months, the number of asylum

seekers reached almost the number of the population of the island (Afouxenidis, Petrou, Kandylis, Tramountanis & Giannaki, 2017, p. 26).

Camps and Reception Centres

In May 2016, there were approximately fifty informal and organized host settlements for refugees spread in different areas of Greece (UNHCR, May 2016). While these settlements are officially categorized as reception centres and temporary settlements for asylum seekers to register and wait in while their applications are to be processed, they are referred to as camps by both the people living in them, international organizations such as the UNHCR and the International Rescue Committee, and media outlets including National Public Radio (International Rescue Committee, 2019 and Kelly, 2018). As of June 2018, there are thirty-four official reception facilities in Greece. Twenty seven are located on the mainland and seven are located on islands in the Aegean Sea facing the Turkish coast. Twenty-eight of these are open reception facilities, meaning they are meant for the temporary reception of asylum seekers and they have not been officially established under law 4376/2016, which establishes under Greek legislation the operation of Asylum Services, the Appeals Authority and the General Secretariat for Reception (National Legislative Bodies/ National Authorities, 2016).

The other six are reception and identification centres established under the Ministry of Migration. Operating as a reception and identification centre means they allow for the application of identification procedures to take place at the centre and not at a separate location. One of these reception centres is on the mainland, located at the border of Evros River with Turkey. The other five are located on islands with one each on Lesvos, Chios, Samos, Kos, and Leros. All six of these centres operate in accordance with law 4376/2016 according to which new arrivals are restricted to staying at these centres for a maximum of twenty-five days. However, after the EU-Turkey Migration Deal of March 2016 migrants in the centres on the islands can be hosted

beyond these twenty-five days until their asylum procedures are finalized. The reception centre at Evros is the only one that operates with registration up to twenty-five days (UNHCR, June 2018b, p.2).

The maximum official reception capacity on the five main islands receiving asylum seekers and migrants is 8,375. However as of January 2017, there were 14, 336 migrants living in reception centres on the islands (Human Rights Watch, 2017). Under the current systems used to address the migrant crisis, some people have been forced to remain on the island of first arrival for over 10 months (Human Rights Watch, 2017). This has left refugees in a state of precarity, for a long period, unable to establish a life for themselves and dependent on humanitarian aid for the basic necessities of survival. As of June, 2018, there are 16, 141 people recorded living in reception centres on the mainland and 12, 881 living in centres on the islands. The reception centre with the highest population on the mainland is Scaramagas Port which has just over 2,500 people. The centre with the highest population on the islands is Moria camp on Lesvos with 6,000 people (UNHCR, June2018b, p.2).

The UNHCR provides a site profile for each of the reception centres. When looking at the profile for Moria, the camp with the most people on the island of Lesvos, it is marked as having environmental hazards being prone to flooding and prone to fires. NGOs are relied upon for the provision of meals. There are 160 toilets for 6000 people and there are not enough toilets or showers in a designated area for women. Moria is reported to have an inefficient sewage system. There are only 128 showers, there are no laundry facilities, and there is inadequate hot water. There is access to medical assistance and education, but there are no safe spaces for recreation. There is also tension between different refugee communities (UNHCR,

June 2018, p.43). This is also a camp where people are forced to wait and live in the conditions for an extended period of time, without any knowledge of when or if they will get to leave.

In interviews with National Public Radio (NPR) conducted on the island of Lesvos in February and March of 2018, interviewees described conditions in the overpopulated camp that was designed to hold 2000 people but currently held 6000: bathrooms that are overflowing with human waste, tents made of salvaged wood and tarp, women forced to share tents with unrelated men, women fearful to walk around alone, sleeping on concrete on the ground, and a feeling of being prisoners which has led to hostility and fighting (Kelly, February 2018 and Kakissis, March 2018). With refugees across Greece being unable to proceed to another European country with the closure of the Macedonia border, they are forced to remain in settlements and living quarters offered within Greece. Sites located on the mainland are also not suitable for long-term living. Refugee claimants living in these conditions have made the request for, "a disinfection of the site, where insects and rats are said to be rife; better food and medical services; and a gradual relocation to proper homes rather than tents in disused military barracks and other makeshift quarters" (Kitsantonis, 2017). The UNHCR, Amnesty International and various aid groups have condemned Greece for the conditions in the reception centres. While the living conditions are horrendous for everyone, women experience increased vulnerability as they are subjected to gender-based violence and sexual-based violence.

The EU, UNHCR, aid groups, and the Greek government have been accused of failing to use €90 million worth of EU funding to "winterize" the camps before the first winter storms. On January 13, 2017 the UNHCR issued a call to increase the speed at which people from the islands were being processed and transferred to the mainland (Human Rights Watch, 2017). In February of 2017, the European Union approved €3.9 million in emergency funds to Greece to address the

poor conditions within the refugee camps (Kitsantonis, 2017). This announcement came shortly after three people froze to death in a camp on Lesvos (Kitsantonis, 2017). In April of 2018, the European Commission announced that they would be giving €180 million to Greece for aid projects. This includes an increase in funds for the "Emergency Support to Integration and Accommodation" program which was created to provide cash assistance to refugees and help in getting them out of camps and into proper accommodation (European Commission, 2018). Overall, the European Commission has made available to Greece over €1.5 billion in support in the humanitarian crisis to help manage the large influx of migrants and provide assistance with monitoring the common external borders (European Commission, 2018).

While financial assistance is being made available, the management and responsibility for asylum seekers and refugees falls to Greece. It should be questioned whether the amount of financial support given, and only providing financial support, is enough from other countries within the EU when addressing the migrant crisis. In the next chapter, I will focus on rights as outlined in the *Universal Declaration of Human Rights* and the *1951 Convention on the Status of Refugees*, which are key in understanding the context of the current migrant crisis

Chapter 4: The Legal and Political Context of the Migrant Crisis United Nations Conventions, Protocols, and Policies on Refugees

The *Universal Declaration of Human Rights* (UNDHR) was adopted by the United Nations General Assembly in December of 1948. The creation of this document was motivated by the previous World Wars and it sets out to articulate the fundamental human rights which are to be universally protected (United Nations General Assembly, 1948). It contains 30 Articles, relating to various rights which are to be protected for all individuals. It is to provide a framework for each signatory state to create their own legislation which adheres to the Declaration. Article 14 is key in understanding the rights of refugees and asylum seekers as it

states: "(1) Everyone has the right to seek and to enjoy in other countries asylum from persecution" (United Nations General assembly, 1948). As asylum seekers are fleeing their home countries which are unable to provide them this safety and as they strive to escape persecution, the UDHR outlines that they have the right to look for that safety within the borders of other states.

Article 5 of the UDHR states, "No one shall be subjected to torture or to cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment" (United Nations General Assembly, 1948). The conditions that asylum seekers are being forced to live in are inhumane. There have been media reports speculating that the conditions are kept horrendous to be used as a deterrent in keeping further asylum seekers from arriving on the shores of Greece, almost to imply that life in a refugee camp is the punishment for seeking sanctuary (Witte, 2018 and Kakissis, 2018). An NPR report on the conditions of the camp described the Greek islands holding migrants as, "squalid dumping grounds for asylum seekers" (Kakissis, 2018). Being forced to remain on the islands and in the camps, living in such conditions, is a form of cruel and inhuman punishment.

The 1951 Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees was ratified in 1951 and is signed by 145 countries. It is the key document regulating the work of the UNHCR. According to this document, the signatory states are to work with the UNHCR to ensure that the rights provided to refugees, as outlined in this document, are followed (UNHCR, "The 1951 Refugee Convention"). While the Convention draws the rights of refugees, it does not protect asylum seekers. They must make their claim for refugee status, go through the legal process, and only after a positive result do they receive protection. This means that if a person enters another country in search of safety, they are not automatically afforded these rights. While their application is being processed and they are waiting, asylum seekers are in a grey zone without

protection as they are left stateless. The process of determining refugee status can be drawn to extreme lengths, particularly when there is a large number of applications in a short period of time, leaving asylum seekers continually vulnerable.

The 1951 Convention is based on Article 14 of the *Universal Declaration of Human Rights* as it further defines what the rights of refugees are and what protocols should be in place to address refugee populations (UNHCR, 2011, p.2). It contains a total of 46 Articles meant to codify the rights of refugees at the international level. Signing this convention is not legally binding, meaning there are no repercussions if it is not followed and no legal actions can be taken if a country violates it. It is the responsibility of signatory states to create legislation which provides detail on its exact application. Article 18 of the *Charter of Fundamental Rights of the European Union* makes explicit reference to the duty to comply with the *1951 Geneva Refugee Convention* and the *1967 Protocol Relating to the Status of Refugees* (Arvaniti, 2018, p.19). While under state sovereignty countries have the right to decide who enters and remains within their borders, the *1951 Convention* supersedes this prerogative. All signatories of the Convention have the obligation to grant protection to asylum seekers who fear persecution in their home country (Arvaniti, 2018, p.9). This section will further examine key articles, relating to the current migration crisis in Europe and more specifically, to Greece.

Article 31 addresses the issue of asylum seekers being unlawfully in the country of refuge. It recognizes that in fleeing for their lives, asylum seekers may enter a country illegally and they should not be punished for doing so. It states:

1. The Contracting States shall not impose penalties, on account of their illegal entry or presence, on refugees who, coming directly from a territory where their life or freedom was threatened in the sense of article 1, enter or are present in their territory without authorization, provided they present themselves without delay to the authorities and show good cause for their illegal entry or presence.

2. The Contracting States shall not apply to the movements of such refugees restrictions other than those which are necessary and such restrictions shall only be applied until their status in the country is regularized or they obtain admission into another country. The Contracting States shall allow such refugees a reasonable period and all the necessary facilities to obtain admission into another country. (1951).

Forcing refugees to continue to live in deplorable, and unsafe conditions on the islands on which they landed, should be interpreted as being held in detention. Their movements are restricted, and they are left in highly vulnerable situations. By arriving on a boat that has crossed the Mediterranean, these refugees are judged by the way they tried to seek safety and are vilified when they must spend extended periods in unsafe reception centers (Hammerstad, 2014, p.269). However, Article 4 recognizes that asylum seekers in fleeing for their lives may have illegally crossed the border into the country where they are seeking sanctuary. While the large number of asylum seekers entering Greece at one time can cause a backlog in the processing of applications, forcing the asylum seekers to continue to live in the horrendous conditions of the reception centres, without the right to leave, should be viewed as holding them in detention. Without the proper resources to process asylum applications in a timely manner, asylum seekers are being held in camps for extended periods of time while they wait for their applications to be processed. This wait means that asylum seekers in the camp are left in situations of continued precarity and vulnerability.

Article 33 is a core principle of the UNHCR. It addresses the issue of returning an asylum seeker to another territory, or "refoulement." Article 33, the issue of non-refoulement is now considered customary international law (UNHRC, "1951 Refugee Convention). It reads,

1. No Contracting State shall expel or return ("refoul") a refugee in any manner whatsoever to the frontiers of territories where his life or freedom would be threatened on account of his race, religion, nationality, membership of a particular social group or political opinion.

2. The benefit of the present provision may not, however, be claimed by a refugee whom there are reasonable grounds for regarding as a danger to the security of the country in which he is, or who, having been convicted by a final judgment of a particularly serious crime, constitutes a danger to the community of that country (1951).

This Convention is one of few legal limitations that is applied to a state's sovereignty (Hansen, 2014, p.254). Regarding section 2 of the Article, it is important to note that the person must have been convicted of a particularly serious crime to be considered a danger to the country. While Article 31 makes it clear that unlawfully entering another country to lodge an asylum claim should not be punished, the securitization framework for addressing migrants and refugees is founded on the principles of portraying asylum seekers, refugees, and migrants as a danger.

The UNHCR

The United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees was established in 1950 to address the refugee crisis occurring in Europe after World War II. It was to be a temporary organization, only meant to exist for three years to assist Europeans that had fled their country during the war and then it was to be disbanded ("History of the UNHCR"). This means that when it was first established, the UNHCR was meant to provide assistance to people who were coming from developed, albeit war-ravaged countries. Since its original establishment, the work of the UNHCR has expanded to geographical locations around the world and operates with global policies (Loescher, 2014, p.215).

The main document governing the work of the UNHCR is the United Nations 1951 Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees. This document defines who qualifies as a refugee and what their rights are (United Nations General Assembly, 1951). Today, the UNHCR operates in 128 countries. Their main objective is to ensure the 1951 Convention is enforced through working with and supporting governments (UNHCR, "Where We Work"). In Greece, it is the responsibility of the government to process asylum claims, the UNHCR is there to focus on

providing protection to the rights of the individuals making those claims ("About UNHCR in Greece").

The UNHCR operates with the two main mandates of providing protection to refugees and ensuring access to long term resolution to their displacement (Loescher, 2014, p.216). They use three approaches to address the displacement faced by refugees, "local integration, resettlement, and voluntary repatriation" (UNHCR, "Solutions" and Jacobsen, 1996, p.658). These solutions are not easily achieved and cannot operate in a manner that produces quick results when dealing with a crisis that results in a large flow of refugees at one time.

Voluntary repatriation means that the refugee can return home and this process is viewed by the UNHCR as the most desirable option. It is also complicated and requires commitment from the home country, as well as support from the international community in the post-conflict phase (UNHCR, "Voluntary Repatriation). This solution is contingent on resolving the conflict that caused the displacement (Mabwe, 1995, p.101). In a situation such as the current conflict in Syria, it is still unknown when peace will prevail and if it will be safe for people to return.

There are two other solutions offered by the UNHCR. Local integration is defined as, "a complex and gradual process with legal, economic, social and cultural dimensions. It imposes considerable demands on both the individual applicant and the receiving society. In many cases, acquiring the nationality of the country of asylum is the culmination of this process" (UNHCR, "Local Integration"). Local integration is referring to refugees becoming integrated into the country where they made their claim for asylum. Integration is a complicated process which requires more than simply giving individuals the right to remain legally in the country. As outlined in the above definition, there needs to be assistance with creating a life in a new country including satisfying social and cultural expectations. However, this can place an unfair burden on

countries closest to those which people are fleeing from as they will receive large populations crossing their borders. As represented by the substantial number of asylum seekers that arrived on the Greek shores in 2015, integrating a large inflow of people in a short period of time poses difficulties for the host country. If voluntary repatriation is not possible, the countries where the asylum claim is made may hope that refugees will be able to avail themselves of the third solution, which is resettlement, and that other states will open their doors to accept them.

Resettlement, the third option, is an extremely complicated process involving third countries. The UNHCR describes the process as, "The transfer of refugees from an asylum country to another State that has agreed to admit them and ultimately grant them permanent settlement" ("Resettlement"). It is mandated by the UN General Assembly that resettlement be one of the three durable solutions. It is unique in that it is the only solution which involves relocating refugees from their asylum country to a willing third country (UNHCR, "Resettlement"). However, this solution is also complicated to enforce, as third countries must be willing to accept refugees and assist with the resettlement process. Countries that have signed the 1951 Convention must allow those that enter their border to make an asylum claim which needs to be processed fairly under international law. However, if an asylum seeker has entered another country first and launched an application for refugee status and the UNHCR is then seeking to relocate them, it is the third country's decision whether to accept them for resettlement. This reflects the principle of sharing responsibility among countries that receive the largest number of refugees and the countries that are approached to take part in resettlement. This solution is not very common. Of the 14.4 million refugees around the world that were of concern to the UNHCR in 2016, less than one per cent were submitted for resettlement (UNHCR, "Resettlement").

To address the refugee crisis currently happening in Europe, in 2016 the UNHCR launched the *Regional Refugee and Migrant Response Plan* (RMRP). Recognizing that Greece is unable to meet the needs of asylum seekers within her borders and that the hopes of many to continue the move on to another European country are unlikely to be fulfilled in the near future, a plan was needed to address the high number of arrivals in Greece. Involving 60 partners, this document aims to provide a framework that will allow the needs of irregular migrants, asylum seekers, and refugees to be met (2016, p. 11). Focus was placed on, "ensuring consistent border and protection monitoring, especially in light of the increase in clandestine movements; strengthening existing national protection and response mechanisms; and promoting access to fair and efficient status determination procedures, relevant services and assistance" (p.11). The plan was modified in May 2016 to address the new and changing legal policies (p.12). These policies and their effect on the asylum-seeking population, will be further discussed in the following sections.

EU Regulatory Policies

Prior to the establishment of the Common European Asylum System, many EU Member States had developed national asylum systems to ensure the implementation of *the 1951 Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees* (Tsirogianni, 2018, p.8). However, as the EU has countries that have open borders with each other, it is important that migration and asylum policies are viewed and implemented in the same way across all states. This has led to EU States creating the Common European Asylum System (CEAS) which works in accordance with the 1951 Convention (Tsirogianni, 2018, p.8). Under the Common European Asylum System, asylum is to be granted to those fleeing persecution that are in need of safety in another country, as is the obligation of European countries under international law (European Commission, 2019a). The CEAS is to align states policies regarding procedure directives, reception conditions,

qualifications for asylum, and EURODAC regulations which pertain to law enforcement accessing the EU database of fingerprints of asylum seekers (European Commission, 2019a).

The CEAS established a refugee protection system across all EU states, even those that had previously not participated in supporting refugees. It was established in order to, "reform a fairer, more efficient and more sustainable system for allocating asylum applications among Member States" (Arvaniti, 2018, p.6). The CEAS was created to create an asylum system that would be the same throughout all European Union states. The European Asylum Support Office was created to ensure the asylum procedures would be implemented fairly across the European Union. This office is to implement the asylum framework outlined in the CEAS and work to ensure there is cooperation among the States. By having one framework and one agency addressing refugee protection, the objective is a more efficient system in addressing asylum applications (Arvaniti, 2018, p.7).

The first four measures of the CEAS were adopted in 2003. These measures are; establish the criteria and mechanisms for determining the Member State responsible for examining an asylum application lodged in one of the Member States by a third country national, this include the Dublin Regulations; laying down minimum standards for the reception of asylum seekers; the right to family reunification; and concerning the status of third-country nationals who are Long-term Residents. (Plender, 2008, p.302). In 2004, following the Hague Program, the CEAS created an additional two directives which were to be implemented by 2010 (Plender, 2008, p.303). The additional two measures were to address the minimum standards for a third country national to apply for refugee status, and to address the minimum standards on procedures for withdrawing and granting refugee status (Plender, 2008, p. 303). The main problem with the CEAS policies were their lack of specific policy directions, meaning it was unclear to EU states

what their decision-making power was (Arvaniti, 2018, p.8). As the CEAS and Dublin Regulations determine that is the responsibility of the first country of entry for processing asylum seekers, the migrant crisis in Europe exacerbated distributional conflicts among Member States and led to an almost collapse of the Greek asylum system (Lavenex, 2018, p.1197) Greece having to handle a sudden mass influx of asylum seekers means they were also not able to meet the minimum standards for asylum seekers as outlined by the CEAS and asylum seekers are kept in deplorable and inhumane conditions (Kitsantonis, 2017, Kelly, February 2018, Kakissis, March 2018, and Human Rights Watch, 2017).

In 2007, the Green Paper on the Future Common European Asylum System noted the weaknesses of the CEAS and identified the actions needed to be taken throughout the EU in the second phase in order to strengthen the CEAS. The response was the European Commissions Policy Plan on Asylum presented in June 2008 (European Commission, 2019a). This plan evaluated the previous directives of the CEAS and the effectiveness of their results (European Commission, 2007, p.3). The plan proposed three pillars to strengthen the foundation of the development of the CEAS. They are, "further aligning the EU States' asylum legislation; effective and well-supported practical cooperation; increased solidarity and sense of responsibility among EU States, and between the EU and non-EU countries" (European Commission, 2019a). These objectives are meant to fill the gaps in the current asylum procedures and create a coordination of the asylum procedures throughout EU States (European Commission, 2007, p.3). As States with external borders that are easy to access on common migration routes, such as Greece, are being left to handle the drastic increase in asylum seekers under the current migrant crisis, it needs to be questioned whether the development addressing increased solidarity and responsibility is being equally adopted by all EU States.

In December of 2009, the Lisbon Treaty came into effect. It contained Article 78 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU). This Treaty provided the legal basis for the development of the second phase of the CEAS. Article 78(1) provides, "the legal basis for an EU common policy on asylum, subsidiary protection and temporary protection which must be in accordance with the 1951 Geneva Convention and other relevant treaties" (Tsirogianni, 2018, p.9). The second phase of the CEAS was effective as of 2013 and the changes were as follows: Asylum Procedures Directive aims to provided fairer and quicker decisions for asylum applications. It also provides greater protection to those with disabilities, unaccompanied minors, and victims of torture. The Reception Conditions Directive is meant to ensure humane reception conditions and that detention is only used as a last resort. As seen through reports of conditions in the reception centers in Greece, by organizations such as NPR, Amnesty International and Human Rights Watch, as well as the stories shared by interviewees, Greece has failed at applying these directives. Asylum seekers are forced to wait for extended periods of time while living in deplorable conditions. The Qualification Directive clarifies who qualifies for protection. The Commission Regulation establishes the criteria for which Member State of the EU is responsible for handling the asylum claim. The EURODAC Regulation allows for law enforcement agents, throughout the EU, to access the database of asylum seekers fingerprints. The second phase also led to the creation of the Temporary Protection Directive and modified the Dublin Convention, both of which will be analyzed further (Tsirogianni, 2018, p.12).

In 2001, the EU drafted the Directive on Temporary Protection, as a response to the displaced people from Kosovo. However, this Directive has not yet been triggered (European Commission, 2019b). The EU defines temporary protection as, "an exceptional measure to provide displaced persons from non-EU countries and unable to return to their country of origin,

with immediate and temporary protection. It applies in particular when there is a risk that the standard asylum system is struggling to cope with demand stemming from a mass influx that risks having a negative impact on the processing of claims" (European Commission, 2019b). The Directive also addresses burden sharing, ensuring that addressing the large number of asylum applications does not fall to one country (European Commission, 2019b). A study of the Directive was commissioned with the findings released in 2016 (European Commission, 2019b). Despite the current migration crisis, the *Temporary Protection Directive* has never been implemented. The conditions of the reception centres in Greece, as well as the extended application processing time violate these two directives and demonstrates that these Directives have not been applied in Greece (or elsewhere) to address these problems.

The European Union integrated their migration policies into their security framework after removing internal border control with the Schengen Agreement (Huysmans, 2000, p.770). With the removal of the internal border control that occurred under the Schengen Agreement, external border control became more critical. To prevent free movement throughout the Schengen countries by anyone who was able to access them, external border control had to be drastically strengthened (Schengen Visa Info, 2017). In the context of migration as a security threat, the EU's approach to migrants became a policy of closed borders instead one of concern for human rights (Afouxenidis, et. al., 2017, p.17).

It was understood that scrutiny-free movement internally of the Schengen Area would only be a viable option if there was a strong external border of those countries that provided access to the area. However, there were no common immigration standards set for all countries involved, immigration policies varied state to state (Betts and Collier, 2017, p.63). When the Schengen countries recognized that states with borders that are easier to access, such as Italy and

Greece, provided access to the rest of the Schengen countries, in 1997 they ratified the first version of the Dublin Regulation. This Regulation stated that the country the asylum seeker first lands in, is the country that is responsible for handling their case (Official Journal of the European Communities, 1997). This was to prevent asylum seekers for applying for status in multiple countries, as well to prevent European States from putting the responsibility of accepting asylum seekers on to other states (Tsirorgianni, 2018, p.8). The Dublin Regulation is a cornerstone of the CEAS (Arvaniti, 2018, p.10). As the process of asylum seekers making their application in the first country they enter put an unfair burden on states that are closest to a potential large inflow of migrants, and in practice removes any responsibility from interior states, the European Refugee Fund was created to help with the financial strain. However, as the Schengen Agreement had removed internal borders and each state had its own immigration policy, the Dublin Regulation became difficult to enforce. There were many issues experienced under the Dublin Convention regarding countries implementing the policies differently and the laws lacking clarity, causing the European Commission to recognize how ineffective it was in addressing asylum seekers. This led to the amendment of the agreement: a new version called Dublin II Regulation (Refugee Council, 2002).

The next regulation came into effect in 2003 and replaced the previous law (Official Journal of the European Union, 2003). The Dublin II Regulation established the criteria and mechanisms for determining which Member State was responsible for processing an asylum application. The objective of the Regulation was, "to identify as quickly as possible the Member State responsible for examining an asylum application, and to prevent abuse of asylum procedures" (EUR-Lex, 2011). In order to improve application, Dublin II Regulation created DubliNet which was a network which would allow for the secure transmission of electronic data

between the authorities of states. It also created the EURODAC Regulation which established a database for storing asylum seekers' fingerprint data and the sharing of this information between the member states (Morgades-Gil, 2015, p.435).

Updates were proposed again by the European Commission in 2008 and came into effect in 2013, creating the Dublin III Regulation (Official Journal of the European Union, 2013). This version aimed to create consistent procedures and improve the system's efficiency including clarifying the rights of asylum seekers and the obligations of states (Morgades-Gil, 2015, p.435). Following a ruling by the European Court of Human Rights in 2011 in response to the application *M.S.S. v. Belgium & Greece*, transfer of asylum seekers to Greece was halted. The Court found that the detention conditions in Greece were a violation of the applicant's rights (European Database of Asylum Law, 2011). Following four Recommendations from the European Commission regarding specific measures Greece needed to take in order to have a functioning asylum system, the Dublin Regulation came into force for Greece again in March 2017 (European Commission, 2016a).

In 2016 the European Commission proposed another recast which could lead to the Dublin IV Regulation as a response to the recent influx of asylum seekers. This proposal was motivated to address the issues of an effective remedy, the principle of non-refoulement, and the economic and social rights of asylum seekers (International Commission of Jurists, 2016). To build on these developments, Dublin IV Regulation proposes to, "increasing obligations and sanctions on asylum seekers in order to prevent them from moving from one EU Member State to another and making the system more efficient by shortening time limits and deadlines" (International Commission of Jurists, 2016). While this regulation aims to create a collective

action system to address asylum seekers, it cannot yet be determined if it will create an improved asylum system compared to the previous three Dublin Regulations.

In April of 2016, as a response to the current refugee crisis, the European Commission proposed further changes to the Common European Asylum System. The objective was to create a system that would remove the burden from certain Member States and create a system that was fairer for all parties involved; EU citizens, host countries, and third-party nationals (Tsirorgianni, 2018, p.13). The priorities for reshaping the CEAS are:

- Establishing a sustainable and fair system for determining the Member State responsible for asylum seekers with the objective to deal better with the arrival of a high number of asylum seekers/refugees through specific points of entry and ensuring a high degree of solidarity and a fair sharing of responsibility between Member States through a fair allocation of asylum seekers.
- Reinforcing the Eurodac system with the objective to support the application of the Dublin Regulation and facilitating the fight against irregular migration.
- Achieving greater convergence in the EU asylum system with the objective to strengthen and harmonise further the Common European Asylum System rules, so as to ensure more equal treatment across the EU and reduce undue pull factors to come to the EU.
- Preventing secondary movements within the EU with the objective to Ensure that the functioning of the Dublin mechanism is not disrupted by abuses and asylum shopping by applicants for and beneficiaries of international protection.
- A new mandate for the EU's asylum Agency, ensuring a more harmonised assessment of the protection needs across Member States. (Tsirorgianni, 2018, p.14).

As part of the April 2016 reshaping of the framework, the EU also announced a proposal for enhancing the legal avenues allowing for third-party nationals to enter the country, decreasing the dependence on smugglers. This would also reduce the pressure of spontaneous arrivals and allow for burden sharing throughout EU countries (Tsirorgianni, 2018, p.32-33). As the population of who makes up asylum seekers changes, and as the pressure on certain countries changes, the asylum procedures must adapt and change with it. It must be recognized that the previous Common European Asylum System is ineffective in meeting the needs of asylum

seekers and Member States of the EU. It must be continually modified, and equally followed by all Member States, to ensure asylum seekers and refugees are not left in continuous states of vulnerability and precarity.

The EU-Turkey Migration Deal

With the rising number of asylum seekers arriving in Europe, migrants will encounter an asylum system, "built largely to preserve state sovereignty over immigration rather than to fulfil state obligations toward refugees" (Dahlman, 2016, p.17). The EU-Turkey Migration Deal was agreed upon on March 18, 2016, and it was presented as a policy solution to alleviate the stress on Greece by enabling the return of some migrants, and also in deterring further mass migration as asylum seekers discover that they would be unlikely to receive refugee status (Afouxenidis et. al, 2017, p.15). It was agreed that all new migrants arriving without authorization on Greek islands would be returned to Turkey; specifically, for every Syrian asylum seeker returned to Tukey another refugee in Turkey would be resettled somewhere in the European Union. Turkey was asked to introduce measures to prevent further arrival of people from Turkey to the EU, and was promised €3 billion in assistance (Purchoc, 2018; the Official Journal of the European Union). This deal sets a dangerous precedent as it sends a message to other countries hosting large populations of asylum seekers, that if providing protection is unpopular among the domestic population, respecting international and human rights obligations become secondary (Collett, 2016).

While people who arrived in Europe to lodge a claim for refugee status were told that they would undergo a formal asylum determination process, there is a critical and significant hole within the institutional set-up. Amnesty International has reported that many migrants have been experiencing a delay on their asylum application because of the EU-Turkey Migration Deal (2017). The deal states that anyone arriving on the Greek islands via Turkey can be returned to

Turkey without a substantive examination of their claims. Article 4 of the deal is to address the re-admission of third-country nationals and stateless persons and it reads as follows:

- 1. Turkey shall readmit, upon application by a Member State and without further formalities to be undertaken by that Member State other than those provided for in this Agreement, all third-country nationals or stateless persons who do not, or who no longer, fulfil the conditions in force for entry to, presence in, or residence on, the territory of the requesting Member State provided that in accordance with Article 10 it is established that such persons:
- (a) hold, at the time of submission of the readmission application, a valid visa issued by Turkey entering the territory of a Member State directly from the territory of Turkey; or
- (b) hold a residence permit issued by Turkey; or
- (c) illegally and directly entered the territory of the Member States after having stayed on, or transited through, the territory of Turkey.

It is clearly outlined in the beginning that further formalities regarding the arrival of the third country nationals in the European Union do not need to be applied. Section c clarifies that anyone that is going to be sent to Turkey must have migrated from there to the European Union but as most migrants pass through Turkey first, it makes them susceptible to this removal.

This section of the deal is based on the premise that Turkey is a "safe third country". The idea of the safe third country is a concept that states asylum seekers should make their claim for asylum in the first safe country that they reach. The EU-Turkey deal implies that the first safe country reached would be Turkey (Gkliati, 2017, p.214). Under Article 20 of Greek Law PD 113/2013, the criteria a country must meet to be considered a safe third country are as follows:

a. the applicant's life and liberty are not threatened for reasons of race, religion, nationality, membership of a particular social group or political opinion, b. this country respects the principle of nonrefoulement, in accordance with the Geneva Convention, c. the applicant is in no risk of suffering serious harm according to Article 15 of P.D. 96/2008, d. the country prohibits the removal of an applicant to a country where he/she risks to be

subject to torture and cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment, as defined in international law, e. the possibility to apply for refugee status exists and if the applicant is recognized as a refugee, to receive protection in accordance with the Geneva Convention and f. the applicant has a connection with that country, under which it would be reasonable for the applicant to move to it.

Under the "Law on Foreigners and International Protection" which came into effect in Turkey in April 2014, all basic rights should be given to migrants, asylum claimants, and refugees (Ulusoy, 2016). From April 2016-April 2019 under this deal, 1,853 people were returned to Turkey (UNHCR, 2019b). The UNHCR has condemned this as a violation of international law (Reuters, 2016). The largest number of returns, 43% comes from the result of negative decisions on asylum claims. The remainder are made up of withdrawal of asylum claims, not wishing to file a claim, and cases being closed for other reasons (UNHCR, 2019b).

However, the law and the real-life experiences that migrants and asylum seekers have in Turkey are two different things. Research conducted by various non-profits and non-governmental organizations during 2016 has since established that Turkey should not be classified as a safe country for asylum-seekers and refugees (Amnesty International, 2017, p.171). At the beginning of 2016, eleven national NGOs released a statement condemning the illegal treatment asylum seekers in the town of Askale in eastern Turkey had experienced, including, "unlawful practices of the staff working in the centre, such as access to clients being arbitrarily blocked, clients' asylum applications being denied without proper examination, minors being kept in isolated cells without access to family members, and possible cases of ill treatment and torture" (Ulusoy, 2016). In May 2016, Human Rights Watch released a report relating that Turkish border guards were beating and shooting asylum seekers that were trying to cross the border into their country. Between March and April of 2016, this behaviour resulted in the death of five people and serious injuries to fourteen others (Human Rights Watch, May

2016). Pushing asylum seekers back from the border and preventing them from crossing into a state to make their claim for asylum is a violation of non-refoulment as they are forcing people back into a country where they are not safe, and their lives are at risk (Frelick, 2016). This means that asylum seekers returned to Turkey are not being sent back to a country that is safe, will guarantee their rights are protected or fit the definition of a safe third country as outlined by Greek law PD 113/2013.

Returning asylum seekers to Turkey when they are attempting to make a claim for refugee status in the EU after having arrived in Greece, is a violation of international law and human rights under both the 1951 Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees and the European Convention on Human Rights (Bank, 2014, p.696). Forcing people to return to a country where they are at risk violates the principle of non-refoulement. This is one of the most crucial principles in ensuring the protection of refugees (Goodwin-Gill, 2014, p.39). As mentioned above, Article 31 of the Convention states that no asylum seekers should be punished for unlawfully entering a country in search of sanctuary. It also claims that refugees should not have their movements restricted. This was previously reflected in Greek immigration law. Under Article 24 the border procedure states as follows, "If applicants apply at the border, they have the right to be informed of their rights, including the right to an interpreter and the right to consult a lawyer at their own expense. If no decision is made within twenty-eight days from the day of **their application**, they have the right to enter Greece in order to have their case reviewed" (emphasis added) (Papademetriou, 2016). Not only was this reflected in Greek border procedures, but also the laws in place regarding the detention of asylum seekers and migrants. Article 12 states that,

Pursuant to Decree 113/2013, an applicant in need of international protection or a stateless person must not be kept in detention for the sole reason that the

person applied for international protection and entered the country illegally.[35] A person may be kept in detention until his/her documentation is confirmed or in case the person is deemed to be a danger to the public or to national security.[36] No one **can be detained for more than three months**.[37] (emphasis added). (Papademetriou, 2016).

However, after the EU- Turkey Deal of March 2016, Greek Law 4375/2016 was implemented which effectively provides for asylum seekers to be detained in the hotspots for the entirety of their asylum procedure (National Legislative Bodies, 2016). This means refugees are being forced to remain on the island on which they arrive, some having been kept there over two years while waiting for their asylum claims to be processed. This leaves refugees in a constant state of arrival and highly vulnerable. The conditions in which they are forced to live in the camps could be classified as cruel and unusual punishment, a violation of human rights as outlined in the *Universal Declaration of Human Rights*.

Greek Law and Policy

It was not until the 1990s that Greece developed her own procedures for addressing refugees and asylum seekers. Before this, the government believed that Greece was not a desired permanent location and asylum seekers arriving in Greece were placed under the protection of the UNHCR and largely relocated (Afouxenidis et al., 2017, p. 11). Greece's legal system on asylum is based on the 1951 Convention and its 1967 Protocol, and on the Common European Asylum System (Papademetriou, 2016). Jonathan Swarts and Neovi Karakatsanis have analyzed the State's reaction to the increased migration that began to occur in the 1990s with the collapse of communism. Under pressure from the European Union (EU) and the UNHCR to address the thousands of people that were coming from Albania daily, Greece became not only a nation of transit for asylum seekers but a country offering protection. As a result of the increase in the number of asylum seekers entering Greece from Albania, the State began the process of implementing additional security measures.

Both the integrity and survival of Greek culture, as well as the safety and security of individual citizens begun to be portrayed as being under threat. In this way, "the spectre of societal security was raised: by linking migrants to both cultural and personal security threats, Greeks effectively constructed migration as a threat requiring an extraordinary response by the state" (Swarts & Karakatsanis, 2013, p.98). With the increasing numbers of migrants constructed as a threat to society and culture, the State was then able to limit their rights. Some of the securitization measures taken by the Greek State in the 1990s were as follows:

Special police units were created to carry out the wholesale arrest and deportation of immigrants in so-called 'sweep' operations; the provision of public service to undocumented migrants was made illegal; hospitals, clinics, landlords and others were legally required to inform the local police of the admission, rental, arrival and departure of migrants; and, while never implemented, the government at one point made provision for special immigration units to patrol the emergency wards of public hospitals (Swarts & Karakatsanis, 2013, p.99).

As an EU member state, Greece is under obligation to adopt the EU's migration and refugee policies. In the early 2000s, the EU increased the pressure on Greece to adopt EU procedures for migrants and asylum seekers as Greece was increasingly used as an entry to the rest of Europe. The result was a shift in policies from the laws implemented in the early 1990s (Afouxenidis et. al, 2017, p.11). In 2005, new immigration laws were adopted and while there have been amendments, this legislation is still in use today (The Organization for Asylum and Migration Policies, p.1). In 2008, the European Parliament and the Council of the European Union passed Directive 2008/115/EC for Member States on the procedures for, "returning illegally staying third-country nationals" (2008, p.1). With the Schengen Agreement in place, gaining status in Greece could mean movement opportunities throughout Europe.

In October 2009 the Ministry for Citizen Protection, the entity responsible for public security, drafted the National Action Plan for Migration Management (Afouxenidid et al., 2017,

p.18). This action plan was to address all categories of migrants and would be implemented over a three year period from 2010-2012 (Ministry of Citizen Protection, 2010). It included initiatives such as: the establishment of a First Reception Service, the creation of an Asylum Service, updating pre-removal centers, which are locations where individuals are held when they are under removal orders, and introducing new policies for vulnerable groups (Ministry of Citizen Protection, 2010).

Due to much criticism both domestically and internationally, including the European Court of Human Rights, the policies to address asylum seekers in Greece were modified again in 2011 and a provision of the 2008 laws formed law 3907 which created the "Asylum Service" and "First Reception Service." These entities were responsible for managing all people desiring to enter Greece through making a claim for asylum or migration by drafting the national asylum policy (Hellenic Republic, 2011, p.1). The Ministry of Citizen Protection, the entity in charge of migration concerns, chose to focus on undertaking two major actions. The first significant action they took was the reinforcement of the Greek-Turkish land border. At the time of the modification to the plan for addressing asylum seekers in 2011, the land border constituted the main entry point of irregular migrants into Greece. The second action that was undertaken was aimed at identifying and removing all illegally residing irregular immigrants of Greek territory (Angeli, Dimitriadi, & Triandafyllidou., 2014, p. 26 and Ministry of Citizen Protection, 2012). They achieved these ends through building a fence along the Greek-Turkish border and implementing electronic surveillance (Ministry of Citizen Protection, 2012, p.6). The Ministry of Citizen Protection also created a special initiative within the police, known as Operation "Xenios Zeus" which was to increase the arrest of illegal migrants done through street and house searches (Angeli, et al., 2014, p. 29). Despite the operation's poor results, -of the 85,000 people that were

stopped between August 2012 and February 2013, only 6% resulted in arrests- and criticisms the procedure drew for its violation of human rights, (Human Rights Watch, 2013), the program continued until the end of 2014 (Afouxenidis et al., 2017, p.21).

As of June 2013, asylum applications fall under a procedure which was established by Presidential Decree 113/2013 (Papademetriou, 2016). This Decree states that, "every foreigner or stateless person has the right to submit an application for international protection, provided that he or she meets the criteria of the Geneva Convention and applicable national law or qualifies for subsidiary protection" (Papademetriou, 2016 and National Legislative Bodies, 2013a). The Central Asylum Service oversees applications for asylum as determined by Law 3907/2011 (Papademetriou, 2016). Individuals that apply for refugee status have the right to remain in the country, free from detention except for exceptional circumstances, while their application is being processed. Under Article 16, paragraph 2 of Presidential Decree 113/2013, the application must be examined within six months. Under Article 12 of this decree, a person may not be kept in detention as result of seeking asylum within Greece. Paragraph 2 of Article 12 further stipulates the only reason an asylum seeker can be held in detention is; for the duration of ascertaining that individual's identity, if they constitute a danger to the public or national security, and if detention is necessary for completing their application in a prompt manner. Article 12, paragraph 6 further stipulates that individuals meeting these criteria may be held in detention while their application is processed but for no longer than three months (National Legislative Bodies, 2013a). The outcome of each asylum application is determined on a case by case basis after a review which is to be objective and unbiased (Papademetriou, 2016).

Presidential Decree 141/2013 outlines the criteria someone must meet in order to qualify for refugee status. It is closely aligned with the definition from the 1951 Convention. It goes

beyond the Convention to include the clarification of what counts as persecution, "The acts of persecution may take a variety of forms, such as physical or mental violence, including sexual violence, and in the case of a minor may also include acts of a gender-specific or child-specific nature" (Papademetriou, 2016 and National Legislative Bodies, 2013b). This definition expands the 1951 Convention to specifically address the issues of minors. However, the only time gender can be included as grounds for claiming persecution is when it applies to a minor.

In February of 2016, the European Commission accepted a Schengen Evaluation Report from the Schengen Evaluation Committee on the situation in Greece. This report identified serious deficiencies in Greece's management of its external borders (European Commission, 2016b). The Schengen evaluation mechanism was adopted in 2013 with the objective of, "effective, consistent and transparent application of the Schengen rules and regulations by the Schengen Member States" (European Commission, 2019c). The report included recommendations to ensure that Greece meets its obligations under the Schengen Agreement. Some of the recommendations from the evaluation committee included improvements in the registration of asylum applicants, providing access to appropriate accommodation facilities while applicants are waiting to be processed, and improving border surveillance (European Commission, 2016b).

With the drastic increase of migrants arriving in 2014 and 2015, the Ministry of Citizen Protection drafted a new document, "Hellenic Police Strategy for the Integrated Management of External Borders and Illegal Immigration for the Period 2014–2020." This document is classified, and public access is not possible (Afouxenidis et al., 2017, p.22).

In August of 2016, the Greek Parliament adopted a legislative provision for the creation of special classes for school-age children to ensure that refugee children and those stating a claim

for asylum would be able to begin or continue to receive an education. Amnesty International reports that in October 2016, around 580 school-age refugees, asylum-seekers and migrants began classes in the capital Athens and in Thessaloniki (2017, p.173). It is reported that many children that live within refugee camps do not attend school outside of the camp as their parents are waiting for them to be relocated to resettle elsewhere. This means that the education refugee children receive comes from older children in the camp, or non-governmental organizations (NGOs) and non-profits that volunteer their time (Yowell, 2017). This long process of waiting for resettlement inhibits the formal education that refugee children receive

In September of 2017, Human Rights Watch reported that hundreds of children, stuck on Greek islands, are not able to access a school. This is despite the fact that under Article 9 of Presidential Decree 220/2007, "the minor children of applicants and children seeking international protection have access to the education system" (National Legislative Bodies, 2007). While Greece has extended a program to provide classes to asylum-seeking children that must remain on the island, they will not be able to attend these classes without proof of address required for enrollment. Children living in the reception centres cannot obtain this proof of address and therefore cannot enroll in classes (Human Rights Watch, September 2017). Human Rights Watch further reported that the UNHCR had records of 530 school- aged children living on Lesvos in 2016-2017 but only 40 were enrolled in school programs. On the island of Chios, there were 261 school-aged asylum seekers registered in 2016-2017 and none were enrolled in school (September 2017).

The lack of access to education, and the lack of acceptance from society, feeds the cycle of precarity as refugees are left in a situation of instability. Without an education and livelihood opportunities, or feeling welcome in their community, they will be forced to depend on

assistance from the government and remain dependent on others for survival, instead of building a life for themselves and integrating into the country that has become their home.

With such a high number of asylum seekers arriving in Greece and the economic struggles the country is facing, the question of the cost of asylum seekers is crucial in analyzing the situation, as well as the treatment and conditions experienced by those relying on the government to ensure their rights are protected. Even though the European Refugee Fund was created in 2010 and international attention was drawn to the crisis in the Mediterranean in 2015, the financial consequences of the crisis have largely fallen on Greece. At the beginning of 2016, the Bank of Greece estimated that the cost of migrants for the year would be more than \$677 million (USD). This would be equivalent to approximately 0.3% of Greece's GDP (Stamouli, 2016).

In 2013, the UNHCR budget for Greece was only \$63 million (USD), which grew to \$68 million (USD) in 2014. When the refugee crisis in Europe spiked in 2015, the budget of the UNHCR for Greece increased reaching \$111 million (USD) for that year. In 2016, the UNHCR budget for Greece was \$287,400,686 (USD) and in 2017 it was \$245,866,265 (USD). For 2018, the estimated budget is \$239,307,212 (USD) (UNHCR, "Northern, Western, Central and Southern Europe"). In 2015, the UNHCR refugee budget had approximately 80% of its funding coming from countries in Europe and the United States (Lamb, 2016, p.75). This shows that these countries are more likely to support refugees by giving financially than allowing for large numbers of asylum claimants to resettle within their borders. As countries began to raise their borders and close the opportunity for migration beyond Greece, the social and economic responsibility of providing for the asylum seekers fell to Greece

The Role of NGOS

While the Greek government struggles to handle the influx of asylum applications, its NGOS and non-profits that are providing critical services to asylum seekers. In November 2015, 81 NGOs were offering assistance on the island of Lesvos alone (Skleparis & Amakolas, 2016, p.176). As the crisis evolved, so did the roles of the volunteers and organizations. In Lesvos, at the start of the crisis the volunteers' initial role was primarily saving the refugees, children in particular, when they were disembarking on the island. After restrictions were put on the coast of Lesvos by Frontex in relation to the direct disembarkment of refugees, their role changed. Volunteers began to focus on issues of health and daily protection (Chtouris & Miller, 2017, p.64). Starting as early as late 2014, organizations such as the Migrant Offshore Aid Station, Médecins Sans Frontières and Sea-Watch acquired their own vessels to conduct sea rescues in response to the 2014 EU Operation Triton which became more about border control as opposed to humanitarian rescue (Cusumano, 2016). In January 2016, as the relief efforts became more coordinated, the humanitarian response became largely led by organizations as opposed to volunteers. At the end of January, the Ministry banned all unregistered volunteer activities on the island (Skleparis & Amakolas, 2016, p.178). This was followed by the Greek Parliament enacting Law 4368/16 which established army run refugee camps and only allowing access to major national and international NGOs (Skleparis & Amakolas, 2016, p.179).

In 2013, the Greek state released its *National Strategy for the Integration of Third Country Nationals*. This strategy detailed measures which would be taken to address issues such as health, anti-discrimination, education and housing. However, the most emphasis went into training and skills development for both Third Country Nationals and also public employees dealing with migrant issues (European Commission, 2016c). As demonstrated by the interviewees when discussing the Melissa Network, NGOS and non-profits are critical to

survival, not only in the sense of rescue and safety, but in assisting with settlement and integration. The women interviewed stated without the Melissa Network, they would not have had proper legal assistance for their refugee status claims. Without the Melissa Network and one other non-profit they frequented, they would not have had access to English or Greek classes. Services for refugees beyond registration centres and the asylum application process had been outsourced to NGO such as the Melissa Network.

In 2018 the Greek Ministry of Migration Policy released their National Integration
Strategy which aimed to reach 10,000 refugees in one year with a strategy for integration
(European Commission, 2018). While this report was created in 2018, implementation has been slow. As part of operationalizing this strategy, working with the Ministry of Labour, Social Insurance and Social Solidarity, it was announced in March 2019 this plan will introduce integration activities for 5,000 newly recognized refugees and a separate vocational training programme for 3,000 refugees (UNHCR, 2019).

Chapter 5: Methodology *Objective*

In the empirical part of my research, I aimed to collect qualitative data which would allow for the understanding of the lived experiences of the contemporary and ongoing migration journeys of women arriving "irregularly" in Greece, from the point of view of the women themselves. In particular, by focusing on the lived experiences of arrival, asylum claiming, transiting or settling of women in Athens I aimed to assess the ways that women asylum seekers, leaving their countries of origin in Africa, Asia and the Middle East, landing in Greece and finding their way to Athens to become involved in the Melissa Network, are left vulnerable and in situations of precarity. My research focused on the migration journeys of such asylum seekers, their experiences with migration policies during this journey and their responses. By collecting

qualitative data through semi-structured interviews with asylum seekers who have arrived in Greece I was able to develop an understanding of the obstacles in the process of asylum seeking and the impact of the policies and practices that are in place to address asylum seekers, from those who have experienced them.

Research Site and Study Population

The collection of data took place in partnership with the Melissa Network for Migrant Women in Athens, Greece which is a network of migrant women promoting empowerment, communication, and active citizenship. It was founded in 2014 with direct involvement of active migrant women leaders and continues to be a network of migrant women coming from diverse origins. At any single time, the Melissa Network is serving approximately 120-150 migrant women and aims to strengthen the bonds among migrant women, to build bridges of communication with the host society, and to promote empowerment and active citizenship. They serve women of every age and from all migrant backgrounds. Instead of a model based on aid, they focus on integration. The three main strands of their action are networking, capacity building, and advocacy. They offer classes in English and Greek, assist with preparation for status interviews, have volunteer organizations that run a variety of programming including classes for new mothers and nutrition lessons, as well as offering psychological support. Their day-centre is located at Victoria Square where migrants and refugees congregate daily. This location also gets the women out of the Reception and Identification centres and into the city, further creating a connection with the community. It is an organization that is largely run by migrant women, for migrant women. It recognizes the importance and strength in friendships and support systems among women.

I spent six weeks volunteering at the Melissa Network and throughout this time got to know the women I would interview. After obtaining permission from the Research Ethics Board of Saint Mary's University, I conducted 11 interviews. These interviews were with adult women between the ages of 22-40. They came from different countries in the Middle East and East Asia. They spoke various languages including Arabic, Farsi, Chinese, Urdu, and English. Some of the women needed or chose to have a translator present while those who had developed strong English skills did not. They had a variety of educational backgrounds, from having completed five years of school to a medical professional. They were in various stages of the migration process; some had completed their interviews and were successful in gaining status as a refugee, some had completed their interview and were waiting for their results, while others were waiting to be interviewed. Of the 11 women, one was employed, and the rest were unemployed. All the women that I interviewed have been assigned pseudonyms.

Data Collection Techniques

The methods that I used for my study were mixed: an in-depth literature review provided the background for researching through participant observation and in-depth semi-structured interviews of the experiences of women asylum seekers in Athens. Through my partnership with the Melissa Network in Athens, Greece I spent my time volunteering with their organization which provided me the chance to get to know and observe the lives of migrant women. This also allowed for the women to get to know me and become comfortable in sharing their experiences. With these interviews, I aimed to collect information regarding their migrant experience. I recognized that my research would be aimed at working with and understanding the experience of a vulnerable population.

With my previous experience of working with refugees having played a large role in shaping my thesis, I needed to be aware of any bias that would be present in my research and collection of data. As stated by Laws, a researcher's bias is always present, even in the choice of their topic and they must be aware of it and acknowledge it (Laws et. al., 2003, p.188). I was interested in refugees and refugee rights, and this guided my choice of topic which is my inherently present bias. However, when collecting my data, I aimed to identify my biases and address them in ways including having volunteer interviewees as opposed to choosing participants that could result in a selection of interviewees that would support my hypothesis. I also created neutral questions that avoided leading to specific answers. I worked to collect data in a balanced way (Mayoux, 2006, p.123).

During the assessment of my data, I began my analysis with a bias regarding the laws implemented to address refugees and analyzed the data using the perspective that the experiences of asylum seekers would be shaped by policies implemented under a securitization framework. I realized after, that the existence of policies implemented due to securitization was not proven by my data; women shared their experiences and how they were vulnerable and left in situations of precarity, but these experiences could not be directly linked to securitization. I re-analyzed my data without the influence of securitization on how I viewed the experiences of the women interviewees.

It was of critical importance that I recognized my bias in my level of compassion for asylum seekers and addressed it as my arguments are based on interviews and the experiences of subjects/participants. This means in order to collect data relevant to my research questions, who I interviewed could not be random. While I had to ensure that I was speaking to refugees who entered Greece in search of asylum and began visiting and using the services of the Melissa

Network, I had to also ensure I was not choosing women that I had to come to know and knew their experiences would support my hypothesis. I mitigated bias in selecting interviewees by asking for volunteers to be interviewed instead of approaching individuals I selected and asking them to participate. With interviewees volunteering to take part, I could ensure that I was not only selecting people who have had experiences which supported my thesis. By conducting semi-structured interviews, I allowed for open ended questions in which interviewees could share their stories as they believe best represented their experiences. I was also cautious that any bias on the part of my partner organization was not present in who was interviewed for my study.

The first technique I used to gather data was observation. By visiting Melissa everyday, I saw and heard how migration was shaping the daily life of these women. This observation also allowed me to get to know the people I wished to interview in a more personal way. I was able to connect to the individuals in a way that allowed for them to feel comfortable in speaking with me and to be able to be feel confident in sharing their stories.

To gather my data from the women's experiences, I conducted semi-structured interviews. This allowed for me to ask direct questions that I needed answers to, but also allowed for an interviewee to speak freely regarding their experience. As I was working with such a vulnerable population, it was critical to consider the sensitivity of topics while collecting my data. These women had experienced trauma in various stages of their migration journey, and they needed to be approached with understanding and caution. During the process of applying for status, they would have had to retell their story many times. There may have been other instances where they shared experiences about their journey. By partnering with the Melissa Network, we hoped to avoid the fatigue of having to tell their story multiples times to different people. The

information that was collected has been shared with Melissa to use as they see fit, in hopes of protecting the women, as well as for their own use and development.

The data that I collected through observation and interviews conducted in Athens, Greece answered my research question of, "what is the lived experience of female asylum seekers living in Athens, Greece?" The women who shared their stories describe the various ways in which they feel vulnerable and how their lives are left in precarity. Through an analysis of these women's experiences and a review of the policies addressing migrants, a possible link could be made between the ways women asylum seekers are vulnerable, such as a reliance on smugglers, and left in precarious situations, including extended stays in reception centres, and the practices being used to address the high number of asylum seekers. As the objective for my thesis is to conduct empirical research, which can lead to an analysis of the effect of current policies, I hope to be able to contribute to policy development that better protects the vulnerable populations, such as refugees and asylum seekers. Further, the information and findings call for a change in the system that is in place to address asylum seekers as it leaves them in a constant state of precarity. It is my hope that this information can play a role in shaping the discussion of how to address asylum seekers in the future.

Ethics and Informed Consent

In a conversation between my supervisor and the Executive Director of the Melissa Network for Migrant Women, it became clear that the Melissa Network would be an equal partner in my research. It was crucial to the Executive Director that the research be conducted collaboratively, and their research team was given full access to the resulting data in order to be able to provide useful interventions in their advocacy and service role for the migrant women clients of the network. Searching for a formula that would allow such cooperation, it was recommended by the SMU Research Ethics Board that the Executive Director be added as an

external investigator in the research project. As the objective of my research was to be collaborative with the women at Melissa, the sharing of data with them played a critical role in the completion of my research.

Upon the submission of my REB application, I went through a full board review due to concern regarding my legal responsibilities to report any sensitive information I may become aware of during my interviews. Through consultation with a lawyer in Greece, I was informed that according to Greek law I was under no obligation to report abusive behaviour unless I was a physical witness and that if I did, I would run the risk of possibly being accused of defamation. Furthermore, as the data would be shared with the Melissa Network, they would be in a position to make measured and appropriate interventions that would address the problems without further victimizing vulnerable individuals. There was also concern as to how I would ensure full confidentiality and that the identities of my participants were protected. To address this, it was decided that I would take no audio recordings of my interviews and would receive verbal consent, ensuring signatures and real names were not recorded anywhere within my data.

After receiving approval from the Ethics Board, I conducted eleven semi-structured interviews. After the collection of this data, I analyzed the responses to find commonalities among the answers provided. By searching for key words and phrases, I was able to establish common experiences that the women had during their migration journeys. These commonalities were; the issue of precarity and the unknown in every phase of their journey, as well as their vulnerability and how their gender played a role in the obstacles they faced.

Chapter 6: Research Findings

For my empirical research, I was able to interview eleven women that had sought asylum in Greece. They had all arrived some time in 2016. They ranged in age from 22-40 years old. The women were from Middle Eastern and East Asian countries. The time that had elapsed between

the time the women had left their home countries to the time they participated in these interviews at the Melissa Network, ranged between two years to ten months. They spoke a variety of languages including Farsi, Arabic, Urdu, Mandarin, and some English. In the presentation of the data, if there is use of the third-person, for example "her family", this is a record of what was spoken by the interpreter. If a quote is in the first-person, the interviewee was fluent enough in English that they opted not to use an interpreter. Six of the women are married and four of the married women have children. Eight of the women are Muslim and three are Christian. Two of the women had come to Greece alone, one having left her husband and child behind. The rest of the women travelled with various members of their family. Everyone that left their home country with family members and had migrated together, were living together in Athens, Greece. There was one exception: Donya who migrated to Greece with her husband and children. Two days before the interview, her daughter left for Germany to live with Donya's sister.

Every woman willing to share her story had a different journey. They overcame different obstacles and showed strength in the face of adversity. In analyzing the stories these brave women shared, I tried to find the commonalities that are strewn throughout their irregular migration journeys and address some of the causal links for their hardships. While every phase of their migration journey was full of unknowns and situations in which they were highly vulnerable, the courage these women show is the one trait that is always present.

Sexual and Gender Based Violence

Nine of the eleven women interviewed specifically stated they used a smuggler to help them get to Greece. Their experiences with smugglers varied ranging from assault at the hands of their smuggler, to being forced into a boat when they did not feel safe, to the smuggler providing them somewhere to live until they were able to travel from Turkey to Greece. Fahtimah, a

Christian woman in her 30s who fled alone described being held by her smuggler in Turkey in his home where he assaulted her. She described crying and repetitively asking him, "why am I not going to Greece?" It was when she escaped from him that she was able to pay another person to take a boat to Lesvos. Fahtimah's story not only illustrates the control smugglers exert over a vulnerable population such as asylum seekers who rely on them for assistance, it also reveals the gender-based violence women face throughout various phases of their journey. This shows not only the way in which gender plays a role in shaping the migration journey, but also the ways in which women are more vulnerable as they are subject to gender-based violence.

Lyna, an unmarried Muslim woman in her 20s, described the problems her family experienced with their smuggler, "The smuggler took money to take them from [her home country] to Greece but left them in Turkey. They were walking through the mountains and because her grandfather wasn't walking very well, they left them in the mountains. One Syrian boy argued with the smuggler to come back and get them, but he wouldn't. They had no phone or water. They tried to get their money back, but the smuggler wouldn't give it. They learned he did the same thing to many people. These people took them to another smuggler, and he brought them to Greece." As irregular migrants are forced to leave almost everything they have behind, they are vulnerable to the rapaciousness of their smugglers and as policies are being implemented which makes migration into the EU riskier, there is increased reliance on smugglers (Zhyznomirska, 2019, p.203).

Being forced to live in dangerous and degrading conditions, women in reception facilities in Greece are also susceptible to gender-based and sexual-based violence. Women are left highly vulnerable, in situations where they are not safe and are dependent on male family members to provide protection from assault. Amal, a married Muslim woman who is in her 40s, described not

being able to use the bathroom alone and never being able to go there at night. She stated that the bathroom was very far away and anytime a woman wanted to go, they could only go if they had a husband or a brother with them. She described that one time she tried to go alone, and a man began to follow her. She told me, "In that moment I felt strong, so I started running."

Seven women mentioned wanting to go back to school. For some, this is finishing an education they were pursuing when they had to leave their country. For other, this would be a brand-new opportunity that they did not have in their home country. Amal said she wants to go to school because she could not before, as a girl she was not allowed to stay in school. Amal's story is one of structural violence that many women asylum seekers share. As the definition of refugee does not include persecution due to sex, the structural violence the women faced in their homes countries can not be used as qualifying factors in their application for refugee status. By seeking sanctuary in a new country, they are able to access opportunities which were previously denied to them because of their gender. This is an opportunity for both the women and their children.

Donya, a woman in her 20s who is married, described how the relationship between mothers and their children is viewed differently in Greece based on the process of registering her children when they arrived, "They wrote her name with her children but wrote her husband's name alone. This was funny because in [her home country] the children are for father's but here they wrote her children's names for her. For example, in [her home country] if people divorce, the father gets the children and mothers can only see them secretly. When the child is 18, they can choose." This shows the structural violence against women in the country Donya fled, as they are not able to raise or even visit their children. By coming to Greece women are given more agency and are viewed as having a crucial role in the family and in the lives of their children. When describing why she chose to leave, Fahtimah said, "In [her home country],

women's rights go away." While women must face sexual and gender-based violence throughout their migration journey, they also experience altered gender dynamics in Greece. This provides them new opportunities outside of their initial motivation for fleeing their home countries. This altered gender dynamic can be seen through the experiences of various women migrant groups, not only those interviewed attending the Melissa Network for Migrant Women. It is also not only seen in the experiences of women migrating to a new country but also their location within that country, such as leaving a rural community to settle somewhere urban (Nare and Akhtar, 2014, p.187). The cultural gender dynamics of where asylum seekers settle is also going to influence their experience.

During their interviews eight women mentioned the importance of the Melissa Network to them. The Melissa Network not only provides crucial assistance with things such as psychosocial support and language classes, it also gives the women a sense of belonging. They have a place to visit everyday and have created a family within the centre. Visiting Mellissa gives them a sense of purpose which is crucial for helping to establish their life somewhere new. For these women, Melissa is where they spend their day and without the organization, they would not have anywhere else to go. Amal, a 40-year-old, married, Muslim woman from Iraq with five years of education said, "She passes her days at Melissa. Without Melissa, she would be bored to death." All eleven women interviewed are enrolled in Greek classes at Melissa. Nine of the women that are not already fluent in English are also taking English classes at Melissa.

Precarity as a Product of Migration Policies

These women shared the ways in which their lives and the lives of their family seem to be left in a constant state of waiting and uncertainty for their future. This is in part due to the women's, and other asylum seekers, inability to move forward to other countries in Europe

because of the Dublin Regulation. The result of this is an overwhelming number of asylum applications being lodged in Greece, as this is the first safe country they entered, pressuring Greece's limited reception infrastructure.

All eleven women interviewed, declared that the reasons for fleeing their home countries were violence and conflict; they often did not know where they were heading next, but they feared for their safety and knew they must leave. While during the interview many stated the country they would like to go to is Germany, when describing why they left, the country they were going to next was never mentioned. They named the fear and discussed the experiences in their home countries that propelled them to leave. This is illustrated by Lyna, a woman in her 20s. She described the bombs they heard and the gangs that attacked homes at night with her sister being a victim. She said their family decided to leave after her father and her brother were killed. Lisa, a woman in her 30s who is from East Asia, described being arrested in 2015 because of her religion. She stated they also arrested her son and the police beat both her and her son because of her religion. She explained that even as a child she wanted to leave because she knew other countries allowed for more freedom for her religion. While these two women come from different countries, their motive for fleeing is survival. They felt victimized and made the hard decision to leave the country, the community, and the home they knew to try and survive.

The women described how difficult leaving the country was. Three women had family living in Germany who were able to help them financially, but support was limited with some of the women interviewed describing the people in their life, friends and family, not wanting them to leave due to the dangers they would encounter.

Many women describe the fear they had on their migration journey and the fear that lives on from that, of the sea and of what they went through. Of the eleven women interviewed, nine

said that their journey involved walking extreme distances, sometimes with small children in their family. Donya, a married woman in her 20s, described her experience when fleeing, "They had a house in [her home country] which they sold to use the money to go to Turkey. The police caught and deported them from Turkey back to [her home country] twice. It was on the third time they made it to Greece. Every time they walked for twenty hours from [home country] to Turkey. They were five people; her, her husband and their kids. Their youngest child was only 4 months old. It was winter and it was cold and raining, it was very difficult. They stayed in Istanbul for ten-fifteen days. They left Turkey by boat and arrived at Lesvos. There were sixty people in one boat with no guidance. The only guide in the boat was another refugee. The smuggler told them it would be 20 minutes to Lesvos but it took 4 hours. She is now afraid of the sea." Donya's journey reflects the precarity of her entire family's journey; they sold their home to search sanctuary in another country and twice were sent back to their home country which they were trying to flee. They had given up everything they had to try and reach safety without knowing if they would be allowed to finish their journey. They were also vulnerable to both the power of the police in Turkey that deported them, as well as their smuggler who forced them into an unsafe migration crossing where their lives were at risk.

Nine of the eleven women interviewed came to Greece by boat. Their description of these boat journeys included many risks such as boat leaks, overcrowding, police and coast guards trying to stop them, and sinking boats. Maria who is in her 20s, described her experiencing crossing from Turkey to Greece: their boat was broken, they came close to dying.

They lost many things at sea. Their boat wasn't rescued. There were seventy-one people in a small, broken boat for four hours. "It was so terrible. We could see the people who died in the sea. Our boat was full of water, we were trying to empty it with small glasses. It was so

difficult." While these women know the journey can be dangerous, they know that staying in their home country is even more dangerous.

There are two cases of asylum seeking women who used different means of transport.

Lisa is one of them. She boarded a plane from [her home country] and came straight to Athens.

She used her real passport and did not pay a smuggler. She could not bring her family, including her young son with her and has had no contact with him since. Lisa left her family behind for their safety and her own, without knowing when or if she would ever be able to see them again.

"She chose to leave by plane because she knew it was the fastest way to leave. She was scared they were going to arrest her when she tried to get on a plane, but she knew that if she stayed, they would arrest her and she would spend her life in prison so she risked leaving." Sosan, a woman in her 20s, came to Greece by road from Turkey, paying a smuggler to bring her and her mother in a car. Even though Sosan did not take a dangerous boat journey across the Mediterranean, she and her family still needed to rely on a smuggler in order to make the journey, leaving them vulnerable to the smuggler.

The women that arrived by boat described the reception they received when landing. Help varied from being given blankets and food to directing them to the camp. None of the women that arrived by boat were left without assistance once they reached shore. All nine of these women were directed to a refugee camp or taken to a refugee camp by the people that met them when they arrived. Lyna described her experience, "When they first arrived in Lesvos, they were given blankets and heat bags by organizations because they were so cold. Volunteers then took them to the camp. At the camp they asked where they were from and why they came."

For the two women that did not come by boat, they were left with less help and direction after arriving in Athens. They received assistance through friends that had made the same trip

and not through volunteers and they were not immediately directed to a refugee camp. Lisa said, "The first thing she tried to find when arriving in Greece was a church. The sisters at the church helped her and told her to apply for her status." Sosan got help through a friend she had met on her migration journey, "First lived with a friend she had met in Turkey who was in Athens. This friend showed her where to go and organizations to talk to." Women that have had to suddenly flee from their home countries in order to protect their own lives, arrive in a new country and there is no way for them to know how to receive assistance or begin the process of starting to make a new life for themselves. They found assistance through the community they surrounded themselves in., friends and religious organizations. Without this community, they would have been left with no assistance and completely vulnerable to deportation if they did not know they had to file a claim for refugee status. There was no support offered to them as they did not have contact with the volunteer organizations that the asylum seekers arriving by boat did. It was volunteer organizations that provided support at specific entry points, largely based on the islands, and there was limited too no government support available. This continues to leave asylum seekers vulnerable as they are in a country where they do not speak the language or know their legal rights and there are no official government procedures in place to help beyond being able to apply for refugee status.

While they were relieved to get to Greece, all the women describe their life after arrival using the words either bad or difficult, though it is for a variety of reasons. They are not always in safe situations after arriving; being in the camp where they feel unsafe or living in places where they are exposed to violence and people fighting. Those that were in a refugee camp describe the conditions of the camp as a cause of stress. They describe feeling unsafe, men and women having to live together, not having access to proper bathrooms or anywhere to shower,

being conscious of the sexual violence in the camp and unable to go anywhere alone, and a lack of food. Jigar, a 22-year-old woman, from Afghanistan that had completed 1 year of university before fleeing said, "In Elliniko camp everything was bad because it was so hot, over populated, the food was bad, we couldn't eat it and it [the camp] was very dirty." Entering another country in search of asylum is legal but the conditions the conditions the asylum seekers are forced to remain in while making their claims are inhumane. These conditions in the camp are leaving the women vulnerable as they describe how they are unsafe. They are at risk of gender-based violence during their time in the reception centres. They also do not know how long they are going to be there for which is one more situation of precarity in their lives.

Many of the women described one of their fears as the unknown of what comes next in their life. They are afraid they will get deported or what will happen in their future. They are left in a constant state of precariousness as they are uncertain of what will happen next. Raha, married woman in her 20s said her fears are, "About their future, what they will do. They didn't know anything about Greece or have any information. The first days were so difficult to communicate, they were so scared to even talk to anyone." Donya, a married woman in her 20s said her biggest fear is the closed borders, "She feels like she is in jail and cannot move."

Eight women explained that when they came to Greece, they did not know they would have to register as a refugee. They were told by others that if they wanted to stay, they needed to register. The women were not aware of what is necessary to gain status in another country. When describing how they left their country and why it was necessary for them to do so to survive, it can be understood that all the set procedures for what to do upon arrival might not be known. Many of the women described being too scared to talk to anyone, also the had a fear of being deported if they talked to any official representatives. They continue to be vulnerable as they are

placed in a system they know nothing about, that they do not feel they can trust and that does not have the capacity or resources to offer support in the form of educating the high number of asylum seekers arriving at one time on the legal process.

Similar to how every person has different goals for their life, these women all have different hopes and dreams. Seven of them want to return to school and receive an education. Four women mentioned that they would like to move to a different country, three of the women want to continue on to Germany and one wants to move to Finland. For two of these women, not wanting to settle in Greece is also delaying their education. Lyna said, "In God's Will she wants to be a computer engineer. She is waiting to start her classes until she gets to Finland. In [her home country], her brother used to open and fix computers and put them back together. She was with him and wants to continue this. She used to help him when he had many things to do. He would tell her what to do to the computer and she would do it. She is trying to learn English and waiting to go to Finland before she starts school. They can't work here so they want to move on to somewhere they could find a job." Lyna demonstrates having a plan for what she wants in her life, even describing having the real-life skills and experience to help her achieve it. However, as she waits for the results of her asylum claim and is in a system with a such a high number of asylum claims being processed that it can take over a year for the results, she is stuck in a situation of uncertainty and waiting as she is delayed from pursuing her dreams and is left without knowing what the next options are for her education or career.

There is also no guarantee for when their asylum claims might come through. Of the women interviewed, five of the women had done their in-person interviews and were waiting for results. Two women had successfully completed their interviews and received positive results. At the time of my data collection, four women had their interviews scheduled and to be done later.

The frustration and the constant unknown of the asylum procedure is reflected by Raha, a married woman in her 20s said she had done her interview three months ago and was waiting for the results. Prior to this, they had cancelled her interview six times. Her husband had interviewed a year ago but they wouldn't release his results until they also gave hers. Lisa said it was very hard to complete her interview because she could not get any documents from the government in her home country.

Many women had their own specific hopes, things they want for their life. Raha said, "I don't want many big things. I want safety that now I have. I want a usual, normal life like other people have. I want to get rid of the idea of me as a refugee. It bothers me that people always call us refugees." This label of a refugee continues to leave them vulnerable as there is growth in the anti-immigration movement and xenophobic attacks. As Greece faces an economic crisis, it became easier to blame migrants for social problems such as rising crime rates and unemployment. With tensions high throughout the country, anti-immigrant discourse and xenophobia have become present in the mainstream with 8 percent of the national vote in the election of June 2012 going to the far-right party (Triandafyllidou & Kouki, 2013, p.711).

Raha described how she feels being labeled a refugee, "I want people to know that refugees are normal people. Sometimes people look at us like they don't like us. I'm so thankful to Greece and other countries that helped refugees. Greek people are so kind. When I go to a shop I try to talk in Greek and they are so kind. But someone that has a hijab, people see they are refugees and look at them like they are not good. This bothers me because I am a refugee and if I had a hijab they would look at me like this." Wearing a hijab is a woman's religious choice but in Muslim minority countries such as Greece, it might be viewed as a politicised article of clothing and another way Muslim practicing asylum seekers or refugee women stand-out from the rest of

society. The feeling Raha describes can be understood when contextualized with reports of treatment of refugees in other data source such as Al Jazeera. At the beginning of January 2018, Al Jazeera reported of thirty attacks on migrant's homes in two Piraeus neighbourhoods over a span of two weeks. The attacks took place in large immigrant neighborhoods and included spray painting of anti-Muslim slogans on several homes. Al Jazeera spoke to the president of the Pakistani Community in Greece organisation, Javed Aslam, who commented on the attacks, explaining that the perpetrators yelled xenophobic comments while breaking windows in several homes (Strickland, 2018). Aslam further explained that he believed these attacks were carried out by the alt-right group, Golden Dawn. This group has a history of perpetrating violent acts toward Pakistani immigrants in Greece, with members linked to the group fatally stabbing a Pakistani man in 2013 when he was on his way to work (Strickland, 2018).

Three of the women mentioned their children or families in their hopes and wanting things for them. Maria, a woman in her 20s explained, "When she thinks about her future and her future children, she doesn't want them to be in a difficult situation like she was." By fleeing to Europe, these women are leaving situations of structural and direct violence, embarking on a journey where they are highly vulnerable, in the hopes that their children will never be forced to have these same experiences. However, as these women share their fears of not knowing what comes next for their status, where they will live, or how they will build a new life for themselves, their children are left in continued situations of uncertainty.

Six women mentioned the challenge of the border being closed. They had plans to continue on to other countries which now is not possible. This adds one more thing they do not have certainty about to their lives. Jigar said, "Her family thought the borders would be open. When they were closed, they felt hopeless. She cried to her mom and begged her to stay in

Greece. They only stayed because they couldn't go back to [her home country], it would be worse there. Her one sister left and went back to [her home country] because things were so bad in the camp." These women do not want to register for refugee status because they know this means they cannot apply for status in another country and they do not want to continue to live in the conditions in Greece. These conditions and the situations in the camps are a violation of their human rights. When Jigar states that things would be "worse" in [her home country], she is describing that even though the conditions refugees are left in are deplorable, asylum seekers and refugees are individuals that have had to flee for their lives and have entered another country for their safety. Due to the fact that asylum seekers are not able to move to other countries in Europe, it is leading to overcrowding in refugee camps and contributing to the stresses previously described.

A challenge that is mentioned by four women is the language barrier they are facing. Having to stay in Greece means having to learn a new language and makes settling more challenging. Layla, a married woman in her 20s said they had bought tickets and tried to go through the Macedonia border and being turned away was their biggest challenge, having to learn the language if they are going to stay here is the second. Donya, described wanting to learn the language of whatever country they settle in so that she is able to help her children with their schoolwork. All eleven women interviewed are enrolled in Greek classes at Melissa. Nine of the women that are not already fluent in English are also taking English classes at Melissa. The women were attending classes at Melissa, a non-profit organization that is run by women in the community. Outside of this organization, the women would not have had access to classes to learn the language of the country they are living in. If there are not official, government processes in place to help asylum seekers and refugees learn the language, they are forced to live

in a country where they will struggle to communicate and continually be forced to feel like outsiders. This is a reality for asylum seekers in all European or North American countries that do not offer support in integration and settling in their new communities. Language classes are an example of a resource that is lacking which could assist with settlement and help make them feel more comfortable about staying in Greece. If people do not speak the language, cannot communicate, and are not given the option to learn, it is one more way they are going to feel unwelcome.

Five women mentioned that their main obstacle is finding a job. Finding a job is also connected to the language barrier. Without being able to speak the language, they cannot get a job. Not having a job makes it harder for survival and harder for those that would like to move on to another country. Layla says, "Her biggest obstacle is trying to find a job because if she does not have a job, she cannot earn money. It is difficult because her children will ask her to buy something for them and she can't. When she gets a positive asylum claim, after six months she stops getting financial support. It's difficult because she doesn't know what to do. She must know the languages to get a job and even then, in Greece it is hard to find work."

Five women mention their challenge is the lack of support or not having anyone to help them. Jigar further described their experience staying in Greece, "There is no emotional support. Her mother is very sad. She stayed by force because her children wanted her to stay." Jigar's mother stayed for her family, even though living in Greece made her very sad. They convinced her to stay because they new they could not live safely in their home country and her children begged her to stay with them. Donya, a married woman from Iran described having a sick husband and three children with no support, she said she is, "very afraid for the future."

While every woman that wants to go back to school had different career ambitions or goals, learning Greek and English are what they are focusing on so that they can continue their education later. Jigar said, she is "Looking into attending the American college in Athens but need to improve her English. She wants to finish her studies and find a job. She wants to be a famous writer. She needs to learn English to finish her studies." Without formal offering of English and Greek classes to asylum seekers or refugees, many will never be able to finish their education. This inhibits their ability to integrate into society, attend school or find a career which in turn perpetuates the narrative that asylum seekers are a burden on the welfare system and will need continued government support and funding.

When asked if they had anything else they would like to add or expand on about their experience, nine women chose to talk beyond the questions asked. Five women mentioned their home countries; wishing people understood what it is like there and why they left. Lyna said, "People are suffering in the Arab world so they should open the borders. In the news they don't tell the truth of what is happening to them". Three women mentioned their hope for migrants to be successful. Miriam, a married woman in her 20s, had a very powerful last message when she said, "All of the people that came here knew they could die but they came here because they want to be safe and live somewhere good for them. They had to come." Miriam shared the story of her life endangering journey that she took because her experiences staying in her come country would also endanger her life. These women described the situations of precarity and vulnerability they experienced as part of their migration journeys because these were things they had to face to be able to seek asylum in another country.

Chapter 7: Conclusion

Summary of Thesis

This thesis shared the irregular migration journey experiences of asylum-seeking women living in Athens, Greece to argue that migration policies and practices have left them vulnerable and in continued states of precarity. I chose to research the experiences of women migrants as gender plays a role in shaping the distinct challenges women face in their migration journey including gender-based and sexual-based violence.

The first chapter of this thesis introduced the topic, defined key terms, relevant to migrants, refugees and their rights and set out the thesis structure. The second chapter analyzed the concepts of precarity, and gender and sexual based violence, situating them within the discourse of migration and refugee studies. Asylum seekers and refugees are population at risk and the conditions under which they travel, cross borders and try to access rights guaranteed under international conventions may leave them vulnerable. The third chapter discusses the current migrant "crisis", in the Mediterranean and in Greece specifically. The fourth chapter looks at the legal aspects such as international protocols, as well as laws and policies in the EU and Greece, paying particular attention to the EU-Turkey Migration Deal and how the implementation of this deal has violated international agreements. The fifth chapter discusses my methodology for the empirical research I completed in Athens. Chapter six is a qualitative data analysis of the semi-structured interviews I had with migrant women living in Athens, Greece and attending the Melissa Network for Migrant Women. By analyzing their stories, I argue that migration policies have left them in situations of high vulnerability. All of the interviewed women live in uncertainty and situations of precarity which prevent them from moving forward and establishing a life for them and their families. Chapter seven concludes the thesis and

provides recommendations to address some of the more glaring weaknesses in the reception and treatment of asylum seekers attempting to cross into the European Union.

The question driving this research is, "what are the lived experiences of female asylum seekers in Athens, Greece?" Using an in-depth literature review, I developed an understanding of the policy environment on asylum seeking in the European Union. Through interviews with asylum seeking women that had arrived in Athens, Greece I paint a picture of the challenges and obstacles faced during the migration process which are leaving asylum seekers highly vulnerable and in continued states of precarity.

My findings are that asylum seekers and refugees face hardships through every phase of their journey: from travel through neighbouring countries, reaching Greece, then transition from camps on the islands to the mainland and applying for refugee status. These hardships are influenced by the policies and practices in place to address asylum seekers and migrants. This can be reflected in the treatment received within refugee reception centres and settlements, as well as the length of time for the application process. These are factors in women's migration journey which leaves them vulnerable and in continued states of precarity.

Recommendations

The data collected from this research show the ways in asylum seekers and refugees are left highly vulnerable and in continued states of precarity. The discourse addressing this population needs to change from one of fear and security, to assistance and aid. The international system which is in place to protect refugees is no longer sufficient as the population of asylum seekers has drastically changed since it was first adopted. Based on the experiences of the women interviewed at the Melissa Network, in combination with existing literature regarding asylum seekers and refugee experiences, I will discuss improvements that need to be made to help protect the human lives placed at risk by the current migration framework.

(I) Safe Passages

It must be recognized first that when state cannot guarantee the life and security of its citizens, people are going to flee. According to international law as enshrined in the *Universal Declaration of Human Rights* and the *1951 Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees*, they have the legal right to search for sanctuary by crossing the borders of another country. As related by all women interviewed, they fled from their home countries because they were forced to. However, there have increasingly been policies implemented to try and deter asylum seekers from reaching other countries, crossing the border and make their claim for asylum. These policies do not stop flight but simply make it more dangerous. It is not possible to stop people from migrating, but it is possible to make migration less dangerous. Increased border security decreases human security.

Asylum seekers and refugees are different from economic migrants. They are leaving their home countries not by choice but by force. During the interviews with the women at Melissa, all interviewees described leaving their home country due to fear for their safety.

Asylum seekers do not want to leave but must if they are going to survive. Women at the Melissa Network shared horrifying experiences during their journey, including being forced into over crowded boats, being stranded at sea for hours and seeing people drown. It needs to be recognized that it is a human right to search for safety elsewhere and policies which make it likely that people doing so will risk losing their lives on the journey to a new country do not respect this. Creating safe and legal routes for asylum seekers to enter Europe does not necessarily mean there will be an influx of migrants. As the statistics reflect, people do not want to leave their home country and are expected to flee to neighbouring countries which are more likely to share the same religion or culture. A report published by Amnesty International in October of 2016 states that out of all the countries in the world, ten countries have taken in over

50 percent of the worlds refugee population. At that time, there were twenty-one million refugees worldwide and twelve million were located within only ten different countries (p.4). The report further explains that the reasoning behind this is because they are the neighbouring countries to conflicts (p.6). According to the UNHCR, the countries with the highest number of refugees within their borders are Turkey, Uganda, Pakistan, Lebanon, and the Islamic Republic of Iran (UNHCR, 2018a). People like to be close to their home and culture that they feel connected to. Societal norms, culture and religion will influence where people choose to settle. Creating safe passages does not mean open borders, people would still need to qualify for refugee status in order to live and work in a new country. Creating safe passages for asylum seekers allows for countries to respect their commitments under international treaties and protects asylum seekers from putting their lives further at risk when fleeing from danger.

(II) Participatory Development in Reception Facilities

The refugee camp system designed by the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees is no longer the most relevant solution. The camps are planned and organized for short term and temporary stays including managing a crisis and distributing goods for a short period of time (Hynie, 2018, p.266). The Greek reception facilities are unfit for living and subject refugees to cruel punishment as they are left in freezing conditions, without proper food, human waste is not disposed of properly and there is overcrowding (Kelly, February 2018 and Kakissis, March 2018). With some facilities being forced to hold three times as many people as they are designed for, issues of overcrowding can also be attributed to the extended period of time people are being forced to remain in the camps before being able to relocate elsewhere. Increased resources are critical to ensure the rights of asylum seekers and refugees are protected. These resources could even come in the form of personnel from surrounding countries to help process applications. With such an influx of refugee applicants in such a short time, overcrowding and extended wait

periods have contributed to inhumane conditions. While living in the reception centres, asylum seekers lose their agency and have no voice in making decisions effecting their lives.

Participatory development should be a part of the system, allowing for asylum seekers to voice their concerns and have their issues addressed. Allowing for asylum seekers to participate in the decision-making process would allow the reception facilities to address the issues the people living in them deem the most important, instead of what the UNHCR or host country think the people need. While participatory development would not address issues that arise from lack of resources, it would allow for asylum seekers and refugees to have a voice in where they would like the resources to be focused. The main objective of all types of participatory development is, "To empower local and subordinate people, enabling them to express and enhance their knowledge and take action" (Chambers, 2008, p.85). Having participatory development in reception facilities in Greece would help empower the people living there by providing feelings of acceptance to the asylum seekers by the host society as some factors of agency are returned to their lives. A key concept in participatory development is the idea of empowerment. Encouraging participation would allow for asylum seekers to feel they have regained some power over their lives.

(III) Integration Through Proper Support

Helping integrate refugees into society is what is best both socially and economically for the receiving society. If refugees do not receive the proper assistance, such as schooling and housing, they will not be able to work or participate in the economy (Hynie, 2018, p.268 and Hayes and Endale, 2018). If there are few support services for refugees and they do not feel welcome, this may also hinder their ability or willingness to learn the new language. This, in turn, can have a long-term effect on their ability to find employment (Hynie, 2018, p.268). It also

hinders their ability to create social bonds in their new communities, outside of other migrants and refugees that speak their native language. Women at the Melissa Network were all learning Greek and English, but this was being facilitated at a non-profit organization that the women had to find and register for and can accommodate only so many women. Without this organization, learning the language might not even be a possibility. There needs to be more focus and attention given to helping refugees integrate into the country, instead of processing their applications and leaving them to figure out a new culture, language, and society for themselves. As local integration is one of the official solutions of the UNHCR, more resources and attention should be devoted to ensuring it is a realistic possibility.

(IV) State Sovereignty Versus Human Rights

A state's right to control who enters their country is an aspect of sovereignty and the laws promulgating state's sovereignty must be weighed against the state's responsibility to protect. Sovereignty legally gives a country's government the right to decide who enters the country, when, which non-citizens should be allowed to stay, and who is compelled to leave (Goodwin - Gill, 2014, p.36). While the section relating to non-refoulement is the only principle in the *1951 Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees* which questions state sovereignty, sound and humane judgement must be used when those in search of refuge enter a country (Hansen, 2014, p.254). If the world were to operate solely around sovereignty, there would be inhumane consequences. This means that the current migrant crisis is challenging the accepted state system with the high inflow in refugees and the way individual nations are choosing to respond. By choosing state sovereignty over the rights of asylum seekers, countries are ignoring international human rights laws and leave asylum seekers in states of high vulnerability and precarity.

While the Convention is the most important document for addressing refugee issue, this document was created in the 1950s when the refugee situation was entirely different. It was created to help people in Europe after World War II and was ratified by States that were expecting to receive European refugees. The world is now facing the largest migrant crisis in history and the Convention does not ensure a right to asylum but guarantees the right to ask for it (Hansen, 2014, p.257). This leads to the question of how much is enough? When considering state sovereignty Gibney argues that while counties may be morally obligated to accept refugees, if the cost is too high there can also be justification for their exclusion (Gibney, 2014, p.52). This is like Goodwin-Gill's stance that no country should be obligated to accept a number of refugees that will be a larger cost than benefit that could be received from doing so (Goodwin-Gill, 2014, p.41). Under the current migrant crisis, countries have begun to close their borders refusing to accept more refugees (Hansen, 2014, p.258). In making the decision regarding "how many is enough?", states need to question what is more important; the financial cost or the cost of lives that will be lost. The policies they choose to implement demonstrate which is more important to them and how they will be remembered in history.

Conclusion

The stories that the women shared with me express journeys full of hardship, danger, and sacrifice. The challenges they had to overcome in search of safety are exacerbated by policies implement by the EU and Greece. An example of these policies is the forced extended stays in refugee reception centres which are unsanitary and unsafe. Policies which force asylum seekers to remain on the islands also keeps them in refugee camps. As Greece has had hundreds of thousands of people arrive on its shores, many other EU countries have refused to accept some of these people into their country. This not only causes overcrowding in camps but extended times for asylum applications to be processed. The fear of being refused or having to stay in a country

under such poor reception conditions makes refugees hesitate to apply for status. Asylum seekers and refugees have risked everything and have been left vulnerable by a system that portrays them as a threat instead of people in need of help. While these are women that survived the journey and are currently living in Athens, their safety and security is not guaranteed. They are left not knowing what comes next in their life, some do not even know if they will be allowed to stay in Greece. They cannot build a life for themselves or their families as they are left waiting in continued states of uncertainty. They are also vulnerable as many continue to live in refugee camps. With a societal discourse that portrays asylum seekers and refugees as a threat to culture and to society, they are portrayed as outsiders. Not only are they facing policies and a legal system that leaves them at a disadvantage, these policies create and reinforce a societal mindset that asylum seekers and refugees can be viewed as a danger and security issue, making it easier for the policies to be socially accepted.

The irregular migration journeys that asylum seekers and refugees take is not a simple one. They leave everything behind when fleeing their home countries; this includes their possessions, their jobs, and sometimes even their families. This is not an easy choice to make but it is one they must make to survive. However, there are laws and policies in place which leave asylum seekers in continued states of precarity and highly vulnerable, particularly women. When speaking to asylum seekers and hearing their stories, it is immediately understandable as to why they fled their country and crossed the border into somewhere new. The women interviewed even discussed this, wishing that people could understand what it is like in their home countries.

In order for things to change, the perception of asylum seekers and refugees must change.

They need to be given a voice in the conversation that shapes their experiences. Their stories need to be shared so that people can understand that they are not a threat or a danger, they are

people who want to build a life like anyone else, but their home country was not a safe place for them to do this. Even when arriving in Europe, many continue to live in fear as they have left circumstances and been through experiences which they will carry with them forever. The policies in place are created from a strictly sovereign point of view; a fear of outsiders and what that could mean to a country's culture and way of life, as well as unwillingness to share resources with "others" and those in need. It is time that asylum seekers and refugees are viewed as people, the conditions and circumstances they are subjected to are revaluated, and humanity is reattached to the people who are risking everything in search of help.

References

Academic

- Ager, A., & Strang, A. (2008). Understanding integration: A conceptual framework. *Journal of Refugee Studies*, 21, 166–191. doi: 10.1093/jrs/fen016
- Ahlborn, C. (2011). The normative erosion of international refugee protection through UN Security Council practice. *Leiden Journal of International Law*, 24, 1009–1027. doi:10.1017/S0922156511000471
- Afouxenidis, A., Petrou, M., Kandylis, G., Tramountanis, A. & Giannaki, D. (2017). Dealing with a humanitarian crisis: Refugees on the Eastern EU border of the Island of Lesvos. *Journal of Applied Security Research*, 12(1), 7-39. doi: 10.1080/19361610.2017.1228023
- Angeli, D., Dimitriadi, A., & Triandafyllidou, A. (2014). Assessing the cost-effectiveness of irregular migration control policies in Greece. Athens, Greece: Hellenic Foundation for European and Foreign Policy.
- Ankenbrand, B. (2002). Refugee women under German asylum law. *International Journal of Refugee Law*, 14(1), 45-56. doi: 10.1093/ijrl/14.1.45
- Arvaniti, A. (2018). "Cities of Refugees"- Welcoming and Integrating: How should the establishment of a Common European Asylum System contribute to the policies applied by EU member states? Athens, Greece: Jean Monnet European Centre of Excellence, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens.
- Bakewell, O. (2014). Encampment and self-settlement. In E. Fiddian- Qasmiyeh, G. Loescher, K. Long, & N. Sigona (Eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of Refugee and Forced Migration Studies* (pp.128-138). Oxford, United Kingdom: Oxford University Press.
- Bank, R. (2014). Forced Migration in Europe. In E. Fiddian-Qasmiyeh, G. Loescher, K. Long, & N. Sigona (Eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of Refugee and Forced Migration Studies* (pp.690701). Oxford, United Kingdom: Oxford University Press.
- Barbier, J.-C. (2002). A survey of the use of the term précarité in French economics and sociology. Documents de travail CEE, No.19, Noisy-le-Grand, Centre d'etudes de l'emploi.
- Betts, A. (2014). Theorizing refugees and international relations. In E. Fiddian-Qasmiyeh, G. Loescher, K. Long, & N. Sigona (Eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of Refugee and Forced Migration Studies* (pp.64-73). Oxford, United Kingdom: Oxford University Press.
- Betts, A. (2015). The Normative Terrain of the Global Refugee Regime. *Ethics & International Affairs*, 29(4), 363-375. doi:10.1017/S0892679415000350
- Betts, A., & Collier, P. (2017). *Refuge: Rethinking Refugee Policy in a Changing World.* Oxford University Press: New York, NY.
- Bourbeau, P. (2014). Moving forward together: Logics of the securitization process. *Millennium: Journal of International Studies*, 43(1), 187–206. doi: 10.1177/0305829814541504

- Butler, J. (2009). Performativity, precarity and sexual politics. *AIBR*, *Revista de Antropología Iberoamericana*, *4*(3), 1-13. doi: 10.11156/aibr.040303e
- Butler, J. (2012). Precarious life, vulnerability, and the ethics of cohabitation. *Journal of Speculative Philosophy*, 6(2), 134-151. doi: 10.5325/jspecphil.26.2.0134
- Butler J. (2016). Towards a Performative Theory of Assembly (Mary Flexner Lectures at Bryn Mawr College). Cambridge, MA: Harvard Univ. Press.
- Cambridge University. *Cambridge Advanced Learner's Dictionary and Thesaurus: Asylum seeker*. Cambridge University Press. Retrieved from https://dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/english/asylum-seeker
- Chambers, R. (2008). Revolutions in Development Inquiry. Virginia, United States: Earthscan.
- Chetail, V. (2012). Are refugee rights human rights? An Unorthodox questioning of the relations between refugee law and human rights law. In R. Rubio-Marin (Ed.), *Human Rights and Immigration, Collected Courses of the Academy of European Law* (p 19-72). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Chtouris, S. & DeMond S. M. (2017). Refugee flows and volunteers in the vurrent humanitarian crisis in Greece. *Journal of Applied Security Research*, 12(1), 61-77. doi:10.1080/19361610.2017.1228025
- Clarke, K. (2016). "The politics of refugee relief." *Dissent*, 63(3), 94-101. DOI: 10.1353/dss.2016.0064.
- Cleaver, F. (2001). Limitations of participatory approaches. In B. Cooke & U. Kothari (Eds.), *Participation: the New Tyranny?* (pp.36-55). London, United Kingdom: Zed Books.
- Costello, K., & Hodson, G. (2011). Social dominance-based threat reactions to immigrants in need of assistance. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, *41*, 220–231. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.769
- Cusumano, E. (2018). The sea as humanitarian space: Non-governmental search and rescue dilemmas on the Central Mediterranean migratory route. *Mediterranean Politics*, 23(3), 387394. doi: 10.1080/13629395.2017.1302223
- Dahlman, C., T. (2016) Unity amid barbed wire: Asylum restrictions, European integration and the migration crisis. *Journal of Peacebuilding & Development*, 11(3), 8-22. doi:10.1080/15423166.2016.1222594
- Ettlinger, N. (2007). Precarity unbound. *Alternatives: Global, Local, Political*, *32*(3), 319–340. doi:10.1177/030437540703200303
- European Institute for Gender Equality. (2015). "What is gender based violence?" *Gender Based Violence*. Retrieved from http://eige.europa.eu/gender-based-violence/what-is-gender-basedviolence

- Freedman, J. (2008). Women's right to asylum: Protecting the rights of female asylum seekers in Europe? *Human Rights Review*, *9*, 413-433. doi: 10.1007/s12142-008-0059-1
- Freedman, J. (2016). Sexual and gender-based violence against refugee women: a hidden aspect of the refugee "crisis". *Reproductive Health Matters*, 24(47),18-26. doi:10.1016/j.rhm.2016.05.003
- Gerard, A. & Pickering, S. (2013). Gender, securitization and transit: Refugee women and the journey to the EU. *Journal of Refugee Studies*, 27(3), 338-359. doi:10.1093/jrs/fet019
- Gibney, J., M. (2014). Political theory, ethics, and forced migration. In E. Fiddian-Qasmiyeh, G. Loescher, K. Long, & N. Sigona (Eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of Refugee and Forced Migration Studies* (pp.48-59). Oxford, United Kingdom: Oxford University Press.
- Gkliati, M. (2017). The EU-Turkey deal and the safe third country concept before the Greek asylum appeals committees. *Movement*, *3*(2), 213-224. Retrieved from https://movementsjournal.org/issues/05.turkey/14.gkliati--eu-turkey-deal-safe-third-country-greek-asylumappeals-committees.pdf
- Goodwin-Gill, G. (2014). International law of refugee protection. In E. Fiddian-Qasmiyeh, G. Loescher, K. Long, & N. Sigona (Eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of Refugee and Forced Migration Studies* (pp.37-47). Oxford, United Kingdom: Oxford University Press.
- Galtung, J. (1969). Violence, Peace, and Peace Research. *Journal of Peace Research*, 6(3), 167191. doi:10.1177/002234336900600301
- Hamm, B. (2001). A human rights approach to development. *Third World Quarterly*, 23(4), 1005-1031. doi:10.1353/hrq.2001.0055
- Hammerstad, A. (2011). UNHCR and the securitization of forced migration. In B. Alexander & G. Loescher (Eds), *Refugees in International Relations* (pp. 237-260). Oxford; New York: Oxford University Press.
- Hammerstad, A. (2014). The securitization of forced migration. In E. Fiddian-Qasmiyeh, G. Loescher, K. Long, & N. Sigona (Eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of Refugee and Forced Migration Studies* (pp.265-276). Oxford, United Kingdom: Oxford University Press.
- Hayes, S., & Endale, E. (2018). "Sometimes my mind, it has to analyze two things": Identity development and adaptation for refugee and newcomer adolescents. *Peace and Conflict: Journal of Peace Psychology*, 24, 283–290. doi: 10.1037/pac0000315
- Huysmans, J. (2000). The European Union and the securitization of migration. *Journal of Common Market Studies*, 38(5), 751–777. doi: 10.1111/1468-5965.00263
- Hyndman, J. (2004). Refugee camps as conflict zones: The politics of gender. In Giles, W. M. (Eds.), *Sites of Violence: Gender and Conflict Zones* (pp.193-212). Berkeley: University of California Press.

- Hynie, M. (2018). Refugee integration: Research and policy. *Peace and Conflict: Journal of Peace Psychology*, 24(3), 265–276. doi: 10.1037/pac0000326
- Ibrahim, M. (2005). The securitization of migration: A racial discourse. *International Migration*, 43(5), 163-187. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-2435.2005.00345.x
- International Organization for Migration. (2011). Glossary on Migration. *International Migration Law Series*, 25. Retrieved from https://www.iom.int/key-migration-terms
- Jacobsen,k. (1996). Factors Influencing the Policy Responses of Host Governments to Mass Refugee Influxes. *The International Migration Review*, *30*(3): pp. 655-678. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/2547631
- Jones, R. (2016). *Violent Borders: Refugees and the Right to Move*. London, United Kingdom: Verso.
- Keygnaert, I., Dias, S., Degomme, O., Deville, W., Kennedy, P., Kovats, A., De Meyer, S., Vettenburg, N., Roelens, K., & Temmerman, M. (2014). Sexual and gender-based violence in the European asylum and reception sector: a perpetuum mobile? *European Journal of Public Health*, 25(1), 90–96. doi:10.1093/eurpub/cku066
- Keygnaert, I., & Guieub, A. (2015). What the eye does not see: a critical interpretive synthesis of European Union policies addressing sexual violence in vulnerable migrants. *Reproductive Health Matters*, 23(46), 45–55. doi: 10.1016/j.rhm.2015.11.002
- Kofman, E. (2018). Gendered mobilities and vulnerabilities: refugee journeys to and in Europe. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*. doi: 10.1080/1369183X.2018.1468330
- Lamb, I. (2016). The Gates of Greece: Refugees and Policy Choices. *Mediterranean Quarterly*, 27(2), 67-88. doi:10.1215/10474552-3618072
- Lavenex, S. (2018). 'Failing forward' towards which Europe? Organized hypocrisy in the Common European Asylum System. *Journal of Common Market Studies*, *56*(5), 1195 -1212. doi: 10.1111/jcms.12739
- Laws, S., Harper, C., Jones, N. & Marcus, R. (2003). *Research for Development: A Practical Guide*. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.
- Loescher, G. (2014). UNHCR and forced migration. In E. Fiddian-Qasmiyeh, G. Loescher, K. Long, & N. Sigona (Eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of Refugee and Forced Migration Studies* (pp.215-226). Oxford, United Kingdom: Oxford University Press.
- Mabwe, T. (1995). Reviewed Work(s): Refugee aid and development: Theory and practice by Robert F. Gorman. *African Studies Review*, *38*(3), 101-104. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/524795
- Mayoux, L. (2006) Quantitative, qualitative or participatory? Which method for what and when? In V. Desai and R. Potter (Eds.), *Doing Development Research* (pp 115-129). London: Sage Publications.

- Mbembe J-A. (2003). Necropolitics. *Public Culture*, 15(1), 11-40. doi:10.1215/08992363-15-111
- McDonald, M. (2008). Securitization and the construction of security. *European Journal of International Relations*, 14(4), 563-587. doi: 10.1177/1354066108097553
- McDonald, M. (2011). Deliberation and resecuritization: Australia, asylum-seekers and the normative limits of the Copenhagen School. *Australian Journal of Political Science*, 46(2), 281–295. doi: 10.1080/10361146.2011.568471
- Menjívar, C., and Kanstroom, D. (2013). *Constructing Immigrant 'Illegality': Critiques, Experiences, and Responses*. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Morgades-Gil, S. (2015). The Discretion of States in the Dublin III System for Determining Responsibility for Examining Applications for Asylum: What Remains of the Sovereignty and Humanitarian Clauses After the Interpretations of the ECtHR and the CJEU? *International Journal of Refugee Law*, 27(3), 433–456. doi:10.1093/ijrl/eev034
- Nare, L & Akhtar, P. (2014). Gendered mobilities and social change—An introduction to the Special Issue on Gender, Mobility and Social Change. *Women Studies International Forum*, 40, 185-190. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wsif.2014.10.007
- Neilson, B, & Rossiter, N. (2008). Precarity as a political concept, or, fordism as exception. *Theory, Culture & Society*, 25(7–8), 51–72. Retrieved from https://doiorg.library.smu.ca/10.1177%2F0263276408097796
- Oliveira, C., Keygnaert, I., Oliveira Martins, M. R., & Dias, S. (2018). Assessing reported cases of sexual and gender-based violence, causes and preventive strategies, in European asylum reception facilities. *Globalization and Health*, *14*(48). doi:10.1186/s12992-018-03656
- Papademetriou, T. (2016). Refugee law and policy: Greece. *The Law Library of Congress*. Retrieved from http://www.loc.gov/law/help/refugee-law/greece.php#_ftnref35
- Paret, M. & Gleeson, S. (2016). Precarity and agency through a migration lens. *Citizenship Studies*, 20(3-4), 277-294. doi: 10.1080/13621025.2016.1158356
- Plender, R. (2008). EU immigration and asylum policy –The Hague Programme and the way forward. *ERA Forum*, 9(301–325). doi: 10.1007/s12027-008-0052-9
- Puumala, E. (2017). Asylum Seekers, Sovereignty, and the Senses of the International. New York, USA: Routledge.
- Robbers, G., Lazdane, G., & Sethi, D. (2016). Sexual violence against refugee women on the move to and within Europe. *Entre Nous*, (84), 23-26. Retrieved from http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0018/319311/9-Sexual-violence-refugeewomen.pdf?ua=1

- Schierup, C., & Jørgensen, M, B., (2016). An Introduction to the Special Issue. Politics of Precarity: Migrant Conditions, Struggles and Experiences. *Critical Sociology*, 42(7-8), 947958. doi: 10.1177/0896920516640065
- Schoenholtz, A. (2015). The new refugees and the old treaty: Persecutors and persecuted in the 21st century. *Chicago Journal of International Law*, 16(1), 81-126. Retrieved from https://login.library.smu.ca/login?qurl=https%3A%2F%2Fsearch.proquest.com%2Fdocview%2F1696228269%3Faccountid%3D13908
- Sitaroploulos, N. (2000). Modern Greek asylum policy and practice in the context of the relevant European developments. *Journal of Refugee Studies* (13),1. Retrieved from https://academic.oup.com/jrs/article-abstract/13/1/105/1673385
- Skleparis, D. & Armakolas, I. (2016) The refugee crisis and the role of NGOs, civil society, and media in Greece. In Phillips, D. L. (Ed.), *Balkan Human Corridor: Essays on the Refugee and Migrant Crisis from Scholars and Opinion Leaders in Southeast Europe* (171-184). Columbia University,
- Stierl, M. (2016) A sea of struggle activist border interventions in the Mediterranean Sea. *Citizenship Studies*, 20(5), 561-578. doi: 10.1080/13621025.2016.1182683
- Swarts, J. & Karakatsanis, N. (2013). Challenges to desecuritizing migration in Greece. *Journal of Balkan and Near Eastern Studies*, 15(1), 97-120. doi: 10.1080/19448953.2012.736238
- Triandafyllidou, A & Kouki, H. (2013). Muslim immigrants and the Greek nation: The emergence of nationalist intolerance. *Ethnicities*, *13*(6), 709-728. doi:10.1177/1468796813483287
- Tsirogianni, C. (2018). Common European Asylum System Reform: Main issues and challenges. Athens, Greece: Jean Monnet European Centre of Excellence, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens.
- Ulusoy, O. (2016). Turkey as a safe third country? *University of Oxford: Border Criminologies*. https://www.law.ox.ac.uk/research-subject-groups/centre-criminology/centrebordercriminologies/blog/2016/03/turkey-safe-third
- United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization. "Migrant/Migration." *Social and Human Sciences*. Retrieved from http://www.unesco.org/new/en/social-and-humansciences/themes/international-migration/glossary/migrant/
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. "History of UNHCR." *UNHCR: About us.* Retrieved from http://www.unhcr.org/history-of-unhcr.html.
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. "What is the role of the UNHCR in Greece?" *UNHCR: Greece, Help.* Retrieved from http://help.unhcr.org/greece/about-unhcr-in-greece/
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. "The 1951 Refugee Convention." UNHCR:

- About Us. Retrieved from http://www.unhcr.org/1951-refugee-convention.html
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. "Where we work." *UNHCR: About Us.* Retrieved from http://www.unhcr.org/where-we-work.html
- Waever, O. (2011). Politics, security, theory. *Security Dialogue*, *42*(4-5), 465-480. doi:10.1177/0967010611418718
- Waite, L. (2009). A place and space for a critical geography of precarity? *Geography Compass*, *3*(1), 412–433. doi:10.1111/j.1749-8198.2008.00184.x
- Ward, J & Vann, B. (2002). Gender-based violence in refugee settings. *The Lancet*, *360*, 13-14. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(02)11802-2
- Weiss, T. (2001). Reforming the humanitarian delivery system. In A.R. Zolberg & P.M. Benda (Eds.), *Global Migrants, Global Refugees: Problems and Solutions*. New York: Berghahn Books.
- Yildiz, U. (2016) "Precarity" of the territorialized State: Immigrants redrawing and re-mapping the borders. *Journal of Borderlands Studies*, *31*(4), 521-536. doi: 10.1080/08865655.2016.1174608
- Zhyznomirska, L. (2019). Politics of irregular migration in Europe: Moving beyond an EU driven research agenda. In A. Weinar, S. Bonjour, & L. Zhyznomirska (Eds.), *The Routledge Handbook of the Politics of Migration in Europe* (p.199-212). Abingdon, UK; New York, NY: Routledge.

Legal and Policy

- EUR-Lex. (2011). Dublin II Regulation. *Summaries of EU Legislation*. Retrieved from https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/ALL/?uri=LEGISSUM:133153
- European Commission. (2007). *Green Paper on the future Common European Asylum System*. Retrieved from https://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=COM:2007 0301: FIN: EN:PDF
- European Commission. (2016a). Proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council establishing the criteria and mechanisms for determining the Member State responsible for examining an application for international protection lodged in one of the Member States by a third-country national or a stateless person (recast). Retrieved from https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/sites/homeaffairs/files/what-we-do/policies/europeanagenda-migration/proposal-implementationpackage/docs/20160504/dublin_reform_proposal_en.pdf
- European Commission. (2016b). *Commission adopts Schengen Evaluation Report on Greece and proposes recommendations to address deficiencies in external border management.*Strasbourg, France: European Commission.

- European Commission. (2016c). Governance of migrant integration in Greece. *European Commission: Home Affairs*. Retrieved from https://ec.europa.eu/migrant-integration/governance/greece
- European Commission. (2018). *New Greek Strategy for Integration Targets 10,000 Refugees in One Year*. Retrieved from https://ec.europa.eu/migrant-integration/news/new-greek-strategy-for-integration-targets-10000-refugees-in-one-year
- European Commission. (2019a). *Common European Asylum System*. Retrieved from https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/what-we-do/policies/asylum_en
- European Commission. (2019b). *Temporary protection*. Retrieved from https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/what-we-do/policies/asylum/temporary-protection
- European Commission. (2019c). *Schengen evaluation and monitoring*. Retrieved from https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/what-we-do/policies/borders-and-visas/schengen/schengen-evaluation_en
- European Database of Asylum Law. (2011). *ECtHR M.S.S. v Belgium and Greece [GC]*, *Application No. 30696/09*. Retrieved from https://www.asylumlawdatabase.eu/en/content/ecthr-mss-v-belgium-and-greece-gc-application-no-3069609
- European Parliament. (1999). *Tampere European Council 15 and 16 October 1999: President Conclusions*. Retrieved from http://www.europarl.europa.eu/summits/tam_en.htm#a
- European Parliament and the Council of the European Union. (2008). *Directive 2008/115/EC*. Official Journal of the European Union. Retrieved from https://eurlex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32008L0115&from=EN
- Hellenic Republic. (2011). Law No. 3907. *State Gazette*, 1(7). Retrieved from http://www.yptp.gr/images/stories/2011/law%203907.pdf.pdf
- International Commission of Jurists. (27 September, 2016). Procedural rights in the proposed Dublin IV Regulation: Comments of the International Commission of Jurists on specific procedural measures in the Recast of the Dublin Regulation. Retrieved from https://www.icj.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/EU-Dublin-IV-Regulation_Comment-Advocacy-Analysis-Brief-2016-ENG.pdf
- Ministry of Citizen Protection. (2010). *Greece sends its national action plan for migration management to the European Commission* [Press release]. Retrieved from: http://www.ydt.gr/index.php?option=ozo_content&perform=view&id=3246&Itemid=443&la ng=EN
- Ministry of Public Order and Citizen Protection. (2012). *Greek Action Plan on Asylum and Migration Management*. Athens, Greece: Ministry of Citizen Protection. http://www.europarl.europa.eu/meetdocs/2009_2014/documents/libe/dv/p4_exec_summary_/p4_exec_summary_en.pdf

- National Legislative Bodies / National Authorities. (6 November 2007). *Greece: Presidential Decree No. 220 of 2007 on the transposition into the Greek legislation of Council Directive 2003/9/EC.* Retrieved from http://www.refworld.org/docid/49676abb2.html
- National Legislative Bodies / National Authorities. (14 June, 2013a). Greece: Presidential Decree No. 113/2013 Establishment of a single procedure for granting the status of refugee or of subsidiary protection beneficiary to aliens or to stateless individuals in conformity with Council Directive 2005/85/EC "on minimum standards on procedures in Member States for granting and withdrawing refugee status" (L 326/13.12.2005) and other provisions. Retrieved from http://www.refworld.org/docid/525e84ae4.html
- National Legislative Bodies / National Authorities (21 October 2013b). Greece: Presidential Decree No. 141, G.G. A' 226, of 2013, on the transposition into the Greek legislation of Directive 2011/95/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 13 December 2011 (L 337) on minimum standards for the qualification of third-country nationals or stateless persons as beneficiaries of international protection, for a uniform status for refugees or for persons eligible for subsidiary protection and for the content of the protection granted (recast). Retrieved from: https://www.refworld.org/docid/54eb4e774.html
- National Legislative Bodies/ National Authorities. (April 2016), *Greece: Law No. 4375 of 2016* on the organization and operation of the Asylum Service, the Appeals Authority, the Reception and Identification Service, the establishment of the General Secretariat for Reception, the transposition into Greek legislation of the provisions of Directive 2013/32/EC [Greece], Retrieved from http://www.refworld.org/docid/573ad4cb4.html
- Official Journal of the European Communities. (1997). Convention determining the State responsible for examining applications for asylum lodged in one of the Member States of the European Communities (97/C 254/01). Retrieved from https://eurlex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:41997A0819(01)&from=EN
- Official Journal of the European Union. (2003). Council Regulation (EC) No 343/2003 of 18 February 2003 establishing the criteria and mechanisms for determining the Member State responsible for examining an asylum application lodged in one of the Member States by a third-country national. Retrieved from https://eurlex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32003R0343&from=EN
- Official Journal of the European Union. (2013). Regulation (EU) No 604/2013 of the European Parliament of the Council of 26 June 2013 establishing the criteria and mechanisms for determining the Member State responsible for examining an application for international protection lodged in one of the Member States by a third-country national or a stateless person (recast). Retrieved from https://eurlex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32013R0604&from=EN
- Official Journal of the European Union. (2014). Agreement between the European Union and the Republic of Turkey on the readmission of persons residing without authorisation. Retrieved

- from https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:22014A0507(01) &from=EN
- Perchoc, P. (2018). EU- Turkey Statement and Action Plan. *European Parliament*. Retrieved from http://www.europarl.europa.eu/legislative-train/theme-towards-a-new-policy-onmigration/file-eu-turkey-statement-action-plan
- Schengen Visa Info. (2017). "Schengen Agreement." Retrieved from https://www.schengenvisainfo.com/schengen-agreement/
- United Nations General Assembly. (1948). *Universal Declaration of Human Rights*. 217 (III) A. Paris, France.
- United Nations General Assembly. (1951). *Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees*. United Nations: Treaty Series, vol. 189.
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. "Asylum Seekers." *UNHCR: Who We Help*. Retrieved from http://www.unhcr.org/asylum-seekers.html
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. "Local Integration." *What We Do: Solutions*. Retrieved from http://www.unhcr.org/local-integration-49c3646c101.html
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. "Resettlement." *What We Do: Solutions*. Retrieved from http://www.unhcr.org/resettlement.html.
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. "Solutions." What We Do. Retrieved from http://www.unhcr.org/solutions.html
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. "Voluntary Repatriation." *What We Do: Solutions*. Retrieved from http://www.unhcr.org/voluntary-repatriation-49c3646cfe.html
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. (2010). *Convention and Protocol Relating to the Status of Refugees*. United Nations: Geneva, Switzerland.
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. (June 2018b). *Site Profiles: June 2018*. Retrieved from https://data2.unhcr.org/en/documents/download/64795

Media

- Amnesty International. (January 2016). Female refugees face physical assault, exploitation and sexual harassment on their journey through Europe. *Amnesty International: News.* Retrieved from https://www.amnesty.org/en/latest/news/2016/01/female-refugees-face-physical-assaultexploitation-and-sexual-harassment-on-their-journey-through-europe/
- Cole, D. (13 January 2017). Study: What was the impact of the iconic photo of the Syrian boy? *NPR*. Retrieved from https://www.npr.org/sections/goatsandsoda/2017/01/13/5096502 51/study-what-was-the-impact-of-the-iconic-photo-of-the-syrian-boy
- Collett, E. (2016). The paradox of the EU- Turkey Refugee Deal. *Migration Policy Institute*. Retrieved from https://www.migrationpolicy.org/news/paradox-eu-turkey-refugee-deal

- Cusumando, E. (1 September, 2016). How NGOs took over migrant rescues in the Mediterranean. *EUObserver*. Retrieved from https://euobserver.com/opinion/134803
- European Civil Protection and Humanitarian Aid Operations (2017). 2500 refugee and migrant children now attending Greek schools. *European Civil Protection and Humanitarian Aid Operations: News*. Retrieved from http://ec.europa.eu/echo/news/2500-refugee-and-migrantchildren-now-attending-greek-schools_en
- European Commission. (2 April, 2018). Supporting refugees in Greece: €180 million in emergency support. *European Commission: Press Release*. Retrieved from http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release_IP-18-2604_en.htm
- Frelick, B. (May 2016). Words of praise, deadly deeds: Turkey's treatment of refugees. *Human Rights Watch*. Retrieved from https://www.hrw.org/news/2016/05/10/words-praise-deadlydeeds-turkeys-treatment-refugees
- Human Rights Watch. (12 June, 2013). Unwelcome guests: Greek police abuses of migrants in Athens. *Human Rights Watch*. Retrieved from https://www.hrw.org/report/2013/06/12/unwelcome-guests/greek-police-abuses-migrantsathens
- Human Rights Watch. (10 May 2016). Turkey: border guards kill and injure asylum seekers. *Human Rights Watch*. Retrieved from https://www.hrw.org/news/2016/05/10/turkey-borderguards-kill-and-injure-asylum-seekers
- Human Rights Watch. (17 January 2017). Greece: Dire refugee conditions on islands. *Human Rights Watch*. Retrieved from https://www.hrw.org/news/2017/01/23/greece-direrefugeeconditions-islands.
- Human Rights Watch. (17 September, 2017). Greece: No school for many asylum-seeking kids. *Human Rights Watch*. Retrieved from https://www.hrw.org/news/2017/09/17/greece-noschool-many-asylum-seeking-kids
- International Rescue Committee. (2019). Greece. *IRC: Who We Are*. Retrieved from https://www.rescue.org/country/greece
- Kakissis, J. (9 March 2018). 'Europe does not see us as human': Stranded refugees struggle in Greece. *NPR*. Retrieved from https://www.npr.org/sections/parallels/2018/03/09/589973165/europe-does-not-see-us-ashuman-stranded-refugees-struggle-in-greece
- Kelly, L., M. (1 February 2018). In Greece, many asylum seekers are stranded in overcrowded camps. *NPR*. Retrieved from https://www.npr.org/2018/02/01/582513426/in-greece-manyasylum-seekers-are-stranded-in-overcrowded-camps
- Kitsantonis, N. (9 February 2017). Greece pressured to improve migrant living conditions. *New York Times*. Retrieved from https://www.nytimes.com/2017/02/09/world/europe/greecemigrant-crisis.html?_r=

- Refugee Council. (2002). The Dublin Convention on asylum applications: What it means and how it's supposed to work. *Refugee Council Briefing*. Retrieved from https://www.refugeecouncil.org.uk/assets/0001/5851/dublin_aug2002.pdf
- Reuters, T. (12 April 2016). Refugee asylum applications being processed in Greece: Hundreds who arrived after March 20 will be screened, registered and detained pending application process. *CBC News*. Retrieved from http://www.cbc.ca/news/world/greece-asylumapplications-1.3531714
- Save the Children. (23 May, 2016). Child refugees in Greece have been out of school for an average of 1.5 years. *Save the Children: News*. Retrieved from https://www.savethechildren.net/article/child-refugees-greece-have-been-out-school-average15-years
- Shire, W. (4 December 2015). Globe Poetry: Home by Warsan Shire. *The Globe and Mail*. Retrieved from https://www.theglobeandmail.com/opinion/home/article27608299/
- Stamouli, N. (11 February 2016). Migrant crisis may cost Greece \$680 million this year: Cost could rise further if many migrants are blocked by Balkan border closures. *The Wall Street Journal*. Retrieved from https://www.wsj.com/articles/migrant-crisis-may-cost-greece-678million-this-year-1455196149
- Strickland, P. (5 January 2018). Anti-migrant attacks surge in Greece's Piraeus. *Al Jazeera*. Retrieved from https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2018/01/anti-migrant-attacks-surge-greecepiraeus-180105112319244.html
- Witte, G. (15 January 2018). Conditions are horrific at Greece's 'island prisons' for refugees. Is that the point? *Washington Post*. Retrieved from https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/europe/conditions-are-horrific-at-greeces-islandprisons-for-refugees-is-that-the-point/2018/01/15/b93765ac-f546-11e7-9af7a50bc3300042_story.html?noredirect=on
- Yowell, B. (21 January 2017). Access to Education for Syrian Refugee Children. *Borgen Magazine*. Retrieved from http://www.borgenmagazine.com/access-to-education-for-syrianrefugee-children/

Reports

- Amnesty International. (October 4, 2016). Tackling the global refugee crisis: From shirking to sharing responsibility. *Amnesty International*. Retrieved from https://www.amnesty.org/en/documents/pol40/4905/2016/en/
- Amnesty International. (2017). *Amnesty International Report 2016/17: The State of the World's Human Rights*. London, United Kingdom: Amnesty International Ltd.
- Commission for Human Rights. (2016). *Human rights of refugee and migrant women and girls need to be better protected*. Council of Europe. Retrieved from https://www.coe.int/en/web/commissioner/-/human-rights-of-refugee-and-migrant-womenand-girls-need-to-be-better-protected

- European Commission (8 December, 2016). Questions & Answers: Recommendation on the conditions for resuming Dublin transfers of asylum seekers to Greece. *Press Release Database*. Retrieved from http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release_MEMO-16-4253_en.htm
- The Organization for Asylum and Migration Policies. (2012). *Factsheet: Greece*. Retrieved from https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/sites/homeaffairs/files/what-wedo/networks/european_migration_network/reports/docs/emn-studies/asylummigration/11.greece_factsheet_institutional_chart_october2012_en.pdf
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. "Northern, Western, Central and Southern Europe." *Global Focus: UNHCR Operations World Wide.* Retrieved from http://reporting.unhcr.org/node/3414?y=2014
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. (2003). Sexual and Gender-Based Violence Against Refugees, Returnees and Internally Displaced Persons—Guidelines for prevention and response. UNHCR: Geneva, Switzerland.
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. (2004). *Protracted Refugee Situations*. Retrieved from http://www.unhcr.org/excom/standcom/40c982172/protracted-refugeesituations.html
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. (2016). Regional Refugee and Migrant Response Plan for Europe and Eastern Mediterranean and Western Balkans Route. Retrieved from http://www.unhcr.org/577220cf7.pdf
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. (May 2016). *Lesvos Island Fact Sheet*. Retrieved from http://data.unhcr.org/mediterranean/country.php?id=83
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. (2017). *UNHCR's Strategic Directions* 20172021. Retrieved from http://www.unhcr.org/5894558d4.pdf
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. (March 2018). "UNHCR welcomes Greek government measures to strengthen refugee integration." *UNHCR: Greece*. Retrieved from https://www.unhcr.org/gr/en/11245-unhcr-welcomes-greek-government-measures-to-strengthen-refugee-integration.html
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. (June 2018a). "Figures at a glance." *UNHCR: About Us.* Retrieved from http://www.unhcr.org/figures-at-a-glance.html
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. (July 2018). "Central Mediterranean situation: Funding update." *Global Focus: UNHCR Operations World Wide*.
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. (August 2018a). "Mediterranean situation." *Operational Portal: Refugee Situations*. Retrieved from https://data2.unhcr.org/en/situations/mediterranean/location/5179
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. (August 2018b). "Europe situation." *UNHCR: Emergencies*. Retrieved from http://www.unhcr.org/europe-emergency.html.

- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. (May 2019). "Returns from Greece to Turkey." *UNHCR: Greece*. Retrieved from https://data2.unhcr.org/en/documents/download/69372
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. (June 2019). "Mediterranean situation." *Operational Portal: Refugee Situations*. Retrieved from https://data2.unhcr.org/en/situations/mediterranean/location/5179
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. (January 2019). "Mediterranean situation." Operational Portal: Refugee Situations. Retrieved from https://data2.unhcr.org/en/situations/mediterranean#_ga=2.197577833.732063797.154813356 8-449790641.1529539990
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees and the Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children. (2001). Respect our Rights: Partnership for Equality, Report on the Dialogue with Refugee Women. Geneva, Switzerland.
- Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children. (2010). *Displaced Women and Girls at Risk: Identifying Risk Factors and Taking Steps to Prevent Abuse*. New York, NY: Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children.
- World Bank. (2011). World development report 2011 Conflict, security, and development. Washington, DC: World Bank.